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About this year’s cover image
The State Teachers Superannuation Fund Act 
1904 (4 Edw VII, No 13), an early piece of 
Tasmanian superannuation legislation which  
was a precursor to the establishment of RBF.

Images depicting significant events in the history 
of Tasmania have been used throughout the 
report. Permission to use these images has been 
provided by various organisations. A list of these 
can be found on pages 47 – 49.
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1
45th Annual Report of the Retirement Benefits Fund Board for the year ended  
30 June 2016

Hon Peter Gutwein MP 
Treasurer 
Parliament House 
HOBART TAS 7000

Dear Treasurer

RBF’s evolution continues
We are pleased to submit to you the 2015-16 Annual 
Report of the Retirement Benefits Fund pursuant to 
Regulation 19 of the Regulations made under the 
Retirement Benefits Act 1993.

This year the theme of the Annual Report is 
‘Evolution’. This theme reflects the changes in 
society that have occurred since the first public 
sector superannuation arrangements started in 
Tasmania in 1904. Throughout the report there are 
brief ‘story’ boxes which highlight the evolution in 
public sector superannuation. The time-line running 
through the bottom of the report also provides 
interesting facts about Tasmania’s history post 
the Federation of Australia in 1901. A particularly 
poignant story is the evolution of women in the 
workplace (page 39). 

We were also struck by how things have changed in 
superannuation administration, from the hand written 
quill and ink ledgers to record member accounts, 
through to the sophisticated technology that we now 
take for granted (page 21).

A major chapter in the evolution of RBF is unfolding.  
From 31 March 2017, RBF will be divided into two 
parts – with the transfer of the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme to local public offer industry 
fund Tasplan Super and the transfer of fiduciary 
responsibility for the RBF defined benefits schemes 
to the Superannuation Commission established by 
the Tasmanian Government under the Public Sector 
Superannuation Reform Act 2016. We are taking all 
steps to ensure members will experience minimal 
disruption when the changes actually take place at 
the end of March 2017. 

President/Chief Executive  
Officer’s message
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On 8 August 2016, RBF Deputy President Don Challen 
was appointed RBF President and Anton Voss was 
appointed as a Board member. The Chair of the 
Superannuation Commission, when appointed, also 
will join the RBF Board. The RBF Board will remain 
responsible for RBF until the transfer date and we are 
committed to ensuring stable services and products 
for our members until the transfers are completed. 

Planning is progressing for the establishment of 
the Superannuation Commission, which will be 
operational from the time the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme is transferred to Tasplan and 
will, from that time, assume fiduciary responsibility 
for the RBF defined benefits schemes.

While from our personal perspectives it will be a  
sad day to close the door on RBF in its current form, 
this will be just another step in the evolution  
of public sector superannuation in Tasmania and 
we have great confidence about the future. After the 
transfer of RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 
accounts and members, Tasplan will manage 
approximately $7 billion which will place it solidly as 
a medium sized superannuation fund in Australia 
and it will be the largest business by size of balance 
sheet in Tasmania. The consolidation of Quadrant, 
Tasplan and the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation 
Scheme will provide economies of scale allowing 
potentially advantageous investment negotiations 
and efficiencies in service delivery, to the benefit of 
members. This consolidated strength has been made 
possible by the legacy of sound superannuation 
management and trust built up by RBF, Quadrant  
and Tasplan over many years. 

Prior to authorising the transfer of the RBF 
Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme accounts and 
members to Tasplan, the RBF Board needed to be 
satisfied that the best interests of the membership 
would be maintained and that the legal concept 
of ‘equivalent rights of members’ was satisfied. 
The RBF Board took this responsibility extremely 
seriously and there were many months of due 
diligence prior to sign off by both the RBF and 
Tasplan Boards on 1 July 2016. A joint Governance 
Committee made up of the chairs and two members 
from each of the RBF and Tasplan Boards and a 
Working Group made up of the Chief Executive 
Officers, Chief Operations Officers and Project 
Managers from both RBF and Tasplan oversaw the 
due diligence and planning. The work undertaken 
as part of the due diligence included a detailed 
comparison of fee structures, product offerings, 
investment options and financial advice models of 
RBF and Tasplan. 

The Tasmanian Department of Treasury and Finance, 
with assistance from RBF, consulted widely on the 
draft legislation with employer agencies, public 
sector unions and other stakeholders and revised the 
draft legislation to respond to the feedback received. 
The Public Sector Superannuation Reform Bill 
became law on 17 June 2016.

RBF President Brian Scullin and three other members 
of the RBF Board, Rebekah Burton, Neroli Ellis and 
John Mazengarb resigned from the RBF Board on  
18 July 2016 and were appointed to the Tasplan  
Board to provide continuity of governance for the  
RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme accounts  
and members being transferred to Tasplan.  
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The Public Service Superannuation Fund Act is enacted. This is the 
start of superannuation for Tasmanian public sector employees.  

The State Superannuation Office, 
within the Department of Treasury 
and Finance, managed the scheme.  

The Board was called the Public Service Superannuation Fund Board. 
First members of the Board prescribed in the Act were: Edward David 
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Downie, William Hunt and Walter Ormsby Wise.
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Queenscliff and Devonport, Tasmania

Tasman Lighthouse first lit Hare-Clark voting system 
extended to all of Tasmania

Portrait of Senator J. Earle

First statewide use of Hare-Clark voting system elects 
first Labor government, led by John Earle; government 
lasts only one week, with return of conservatives
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RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme members  
will also enjoy full portability with Tasplan, which  
means that irrespective of where they work, their 
employer will be able to make Superannuation 
Guarantee contributions to Tasplan on their behalf  
so they will not need to change funds if they change 
jobs. This was something that RBF had been hoping  
to achieve for many years and we are pleased that  
the reforms now make this possible.

As we get ready to hand over custodianship to  
Tasplan and the Superannuation Commission, we  
stand proud about RBF’s strength of financial and 
investment management, value for money products  
and trademark personal education and advice  
services that are hallmarks of our fund. We must  
also put on record the outstanding commitment, 
resilience and professionalism shown by the RBF  
staff throughout RBF’s history but particularly over the 
past four years of review and reform. The commitment  
of RBF staff to service members by living the RBF  
values of Respect, Integrity, Quality, Achieve Together  
and Responsibility has been unwavering.

We wish both Tasplan and the Superannuation 
Commission the very best for the future.

Yours sincerely

D W Challen AM

President
Retirement Benefits  
Fund Board

Philip Mussared

Chief Executive Officer
Retirement Benefits 
Fund
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UP NEXT: Purpose and stakeholders

Fountain pen, similar to models that were  
popular in the early to mid 20th century
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RBF’s purpose
RBF exists solely to provide retirement superannuation benefits and services for members. RBF is not for 
profit which means that members benefit fully from our investment performance, products and services. 
We are totally committed to the best interests of members.

RBF’s history is reflected in the superannuation schemes which we manage. As at 30 June 2016, there 
were five defined benefits schemes which are now closed to new members and one open accumulation 
scheme, the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme. 

Key stakeholder: RBF members
RBF offers a full range of superannuation and retirement products – defined benefits schemes, an 
accumulation scheme, life pension, account based pension, a lifecycle based default investment 
product, ten investment choice options, death and disability cover and spouse accounts.

The RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme is invested solely with the best interests of members in mind. 
All returns less the costs of managing the investments are returned to members.

Key stakeholder: Tasmanian Government
Defined benefits schemes pay benefits to members based on a formula. Benefits to defined benefits 
members are not affected by investment earnings. The funds within the defined benefits schemes are 
invested by RBF. The investment earnings net of fees reduce the amount of money that the Tasmanian 
Government needs to pay to fund its share of the benefits to members. This benefits all Tasmanians.

2
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UP NEXT: Investment overview

Wooden storage boxes, early 20th century
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Australian Government employs their own wireless expert to build the coastal 
wireless service after interests representing Telefunken didn’t perform to the 
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arrives in Hobart on return from Antarctic expedition
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Hydro-Electric Department map 
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above sill level including various 
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in Harbour, Hobart, 
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Captain Roald Amundsen, on board 
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In total, RBF Balanced has returned 8.7%pa 
after investment fees and taxes over a rolling 
five year period to 30 June 2016, compared 
with the target return of 5.63% for the same 
period. This exceeded the median of the 
results achieved by Balanced options rated by 
SuperRatings benchmarking agency over the 
same period.

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance. 

Bringing cash management in-house 
proves successful
In March 2015, the cash asset class underwent 
a significant restructure with the management  
of a large proportion of term cash and at call 
cash brought in-house. The restructure has 
been successful, providing strong returns for  
the cash asset class and the RBF Cash Member 
Investment Choice option to 30 June 2016. 

The at call cash asset class returned 2.31%  
for the full year while the term cash asset class 
returned 2.71% before fees and taxes. 

The RBF Cash option was ranked third in the 
SuperRatings Top 50 Cash Index over the  
12 months to 30 June 2016.

All of RBF’s diversified investment options 
achieved peer relative performance 
targets. This means that RBF performed 
well compared with other funds. 

However, we continue to be challenged by the 
market environment where fixed interest returns are 
low and risks are elevated. RBF has responded 
by seeking absolute return opportunities and 
increasing cash allocations. While this manages risk, 
prospective returns are lower in this environment and 
we have lowered our target returns to reflect this. 

In December 2015, RBF appointed a multi-strategy 
credit manager, Shenkman. The appointment has 
improved diversification in the alternative debt asset 
class which is used within the majority of the RBF 
Member Investment Choice options. It also allows 
the external manager to make allocation decisions 
between credit sectors in a more timely manner than 
RBF could.

In May 2016, RBF appointed an absolute return 
manager, BlackRock. The purpose of the 
appointment is to improve diversification through  
risk-adjusted returns which have low correlation to 
returns in equities and fixed interest investments. 

The Hobart Airport terminal redevelopment and 
runway extension projects are progressing well. 
Performance of the airport remains strong and this 
was reflected in a higher valuation in June 2016.

 
Investment overview
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RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme  
investment results

In addition to individual performance goals for 
each option, RBF’s objectives for the diversified 
Member Investment Choice options are to offer 
investment products that deliver performance 
results that are:

•• in the top quarter of investment results 
achieved by similar investment products when 
equity markets are trending ‘down’ over the 
past three years; and 

•• in the top half of investment results achieved 
by similar investment products when equity 
markets are trending ‘up’ over the past  
three years.

Continuing the strong investment performance 
from 2014-15, investment objectives for all 
diversified Member Investment Choice options 
were achieved or exceeded as at 30 June 2016.

RBF has developed investment strategies for each 
Member Investment Choice option and underlying 
asset class pool which set out the performance 
objectives, authorised investments and portfolio 
construction guidelines. Detailed information is 
Detailed information is available on the RBF  
website within the ‘How we invest your money’ 
fact sheet.  

The following tables show the investment returns for 
RBF’s Member Investment Choice options within the 
RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme, compared 
with other like investment products as represented 
by the median results reported by SuperRatings.  
The returns are net of investment fees and taxes,  
but before the deduction of administration fees.

Explanatory notes to RBF Investment Account tables: 

•• The median represents the middle result if all 
the related investment results from SuperRatings 
surveys were ranked in order from lower to highest. 

•• The quartile ranking for each of RBF’s investment 
results is obtained by dividing the ranked results 
into four quarters, with quartile one containing  
the highest returns and quartile four the lowest. 

•• The highlighted column represents the three year 
time period over which relative performance of 
diversified investment options is measured.

https://secure.superfacts.com/attachments/Form/RBF_HowWeInvestYourMoney.pdf
https://secure.superfacts.com/attachments/Form/RBF_HowWeInvestYourMoney.pdf
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RBF Investment Account – investment returns to 30 June 2016

Diversified options 

Growth 
assets  
ratio % 1 year 3 years pa 5 years pa 7 years pa 10 years pa

RBF Balanced 73 4.1% 8.8% 8.7% 8.8% 5.7%

SuperRatings Balanced option (median) 60-76 2.7% 8.1% 7.9% 8.3% 5.3%

RBF Balanced quartile ranking 1 1 1 2 2

RBF Growth 82 3.8% 9.3% 9.1% 9.4% 5.6%

SuperRatings Growth option (median) 77-90 1.9% 8.7% 8.2% 8.9% 5.0%

RBF Growth quartile ranking 1 2 1 2 2

RBF Moderate 53 4.3% 7.2% 7.5% N/A N/A

SuperRatings Conservative Balanced  
option (median)

41-59 2.9% 6.7% 6.7% 7.3% 4.8%

RBF Moderate quartile ranking 1 1 1 N/A N/A

RBF Conservative 38 4.0% 6.1% 6.8% 7.4% 5.9%

SuperRatings Capital Stable option (median) 20-40 3.4% 5.4% 5.7% 6.3% 5.0%

RBF Conservative quartile ranking 2 1 1 1 1

RBF Socially Responsible Investments 74 1.3% 7.6% 8.2% 8.4% 5.0%

SuperRatings Sustainable Balanced option 
(median)

60-76 2.7% 8.1% 7.9% 8.3% 5.3%

RBF Socially Responsible Investments  
quartile ranking

4 3 2 2 3

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance. 

RBF Investment Account – investment returns to 30 June 2016

Asset class options 1 year 3 years pa 5 years pa 7 years pa 10 years pa

RBF Australian Shares -0.1% 7.3% 7.8% 9.1% 4.8%

SuperRatings Australian Shares option (median) 1.5% 7.9% 7.3% 8.5% 5.1%

RBF Australian Shares quartile ranking 3 3 2 2 3

RBF International Shares 0.9% 11.9% 11.9% 11.5% 5.0%

SuperRatings International Shares option (Median) -1.4% 11.5% 11.2% 10.0% 3.7%

RBF International Shares quartile ranking 1 2 2 1 1
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RBF Investment Account – investment returns to 30 June 2016 (continued)

Asset class options 1 year 3 years pa 5 years pa 7 years pa 10 years pa

RBF Property 13.2% 6.5% N/A N/A N/A

SuperRatings Property option (median) 12.9% 10.6% 9.4% 10.2% 4.0%

RBF Property quartile ranking 2 4

RBF Fixed Interest 5.3% 5.9% 7.0% 7.5% 6.8%

SuperRatings Fixed Interest option (median) 4.5% 4.6% 5.2% 6.1% 5.6%

RBF Fixed Interest quartile ranking 2 1 1 1 2

RBF Cash 2.3% 2.7% 3.4% 3.5% 4.0%

SuperRatings Cash option (median) 1.9% 2.2% 2.6% 3.0% 3.7%

RBF Cash quartile ranking 1 1 1 1 1

Almost all RBF’s Member Investment Choice options have performed above median over most periods and 
many have achieved first quartile performance. 

RBF Investment Account – RBF MyPath® 
investment returns to 30 June 2016 
RBF MyPath is the default Member Investment 
Choice option for RBF Investment Account holders. 
The investment returns for RBF MyPath are from the 
commencement date, 24 March 2014, and are not 
annualised. RBF MyPath members are placed in a 
group based on their date of birth.

 Option 12 months

Return from 
inception to  

30 June 2016

RBF MyPath Conservative 4.04% 5.60%

RBF MyPath 1955-1959 4.20% 6.19%

RBF MyPath 1960–1964 4.17% 7.24%

RBF MyPath 1965–1969 3.80% 7.16%

RBF MyPath 1970-1974 3.81% 7.16%

RBF MyPath 1975-1979 3.80% 7.16%

RBF MyPath 1980-1984 3.80% 7.16%

RBF MyPath 1985-1989 3.81% 7.16%

RBF MyPath 1990-1994 3.79% 7.18%

RBF MyPath 1995-1999 3.80% 7.17%

RBF MyPath 2000-2004 3.70%1 3.70%1

® Registered to the Retirement Benefits Fund Board ABN 97 724 593 931. 
1 Return since inception in December 2015.

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance. 
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RBF Account Based Pension –  
investment returns to 30 June 2016

Member 
Investment 
Choice option

12 
months

3 
years

5 
years

7 
years

10 
years

Diversified 
options

RBF Balanced 
(default)

3.99% 9.49% 9.59% 9.67% 6.34%

RBF Growth 4.05% 10.32% 10.41% 10.66% 6.42%

RBF Moderate 4.50% 7.95% 8.44% N/A N/A

RBF Conservative 4.51% 6.84% 7.69% 8.31% 6.64%

RBF Socially 
Responsible 
Investments

0.52% 7.88% 8.95% 9.06% 5.39%

Asset class 
options

RBF Australian 
Shares

-0.60% 8.37% 9.17% 10.50% 5.88%

RBF International 
Shares

0.96% 13.22% 13.24% 12.49% 5.21%

RBF Property 14.47% 11.18% N/A N/A N/A

RBF Fixed 
Interest

6.03% 6.73% 8.09% 8.76% 7.91%

RBF Cash 2.61% 3.11% 3.84% 4.00% 4.68%

Contributory Scheme – investment performance 

The Tasmanian Government is the key stakeholder 
for the investment performance of the Contributory 
Scheme as it finances an actuarially determined 
share of the benefits payable to members of the 
Contributory Scheme. Factors that contribute to the 
funding position of the Contributory Scheme are 

administration fees and investment returns.  
The main factor is investment returns – the higher  
the investment returns achieved, the less the 
Tasmanian Government will need to pay to fund 
Contributory Scheme benefits over the long run.  
The RBF Board aims to contribute to stability in  
the reported funding position of the Contributory 
Scheme by providing relatively consistent returns 
while achieving investment targets. The reported 
funding position is the difference between assets  
and liabilities of the Contributory Scheme.

In determining how the defined benefit schemes 
should be invested, the primary focus is on 
establishing a long-term Strategic Asset Allocation 
and making infrequent, but at times significant, 
changes or ‘tilts’ to this position. Tilts may take 
advantage of what is considered a fundamental 
mispricing within or between investment markets or 
seek to avoid downside investment risk. In setting the 
investment strategy, RBF liaises with the Tasmanian 
Department of Treasury and Finance to determine 
appropriate investment goals for each of the defined 
benefit schemes. 

The discount rate applied to the calculation of the 
liability, which is based on the Commonwealth  
long-term bond rate, also has a significant impact 
on the notional unfunded liability. A reduction in 
the long-term bond rate will increase the notional 
valuation of the unfunded liability. 
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The following graph depicts rolling five year 
investment performance since March 2006 for  
the Contributory Scheme. 

RBF exceeded the Contributory Scheme 
investment target of CPI+4.5% over rolling five 
years to 30 June 2016, with the actual return 
being CPI+6.15%.

Contributory Scheme CPI+4.5% 
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Contributory Scheme historical investment performance

Objective: CPI + 4.5% over rolling five years

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.
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and connects Tasmania with the mainland network 

Last known Tasmanian tiger (thylacine) 
dies at Hobart’s Beaumaris Zoo

First commercial flights use 
federal aerodrome at Cambridge 

The Bass Strait telephone cable is in operation and ABC 
commences broadcasting in Hobart. This cable is the 
longest of its type in the world.

Royal Hobart Hospital opens on present site

Male and female of the 
Thylacinus cynocephalus

Royal Hobart Hospital, 
c. 1938 – c. 1950Cambridge Aerodrome Tarmac
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RBF top 10 holdings 
Top 10 holdings as at 30 June 2016

Investment Asset type % of total assets

1. Bankwest Cash and term deposits 4.1%

2. Westpac Bank Cash and term deposits 3.7%

3. Hobart Airport Infrastructure 2.6%

4. Australian Government Treasury Notes Government debt 2.1%

5. ME Bank Cash and term deposits 1.5%

6. Perth Airport Infrastructure 1.4%

7. Melbourne Airport Infrastructure 1.4%

8. Westpac Bank Shares 1.3%

9. Commonwealth Bank of Australia Shares 1.3%

10. ANZ Banking Group Ltd Shares 1.1%

Top 10 holdings as at 30 June 2015

Investment Asset type % of total assets

1. Westpac Bank Cash and term deposits 5.0%

2. Commonwealth Bank of Australia Cash and term deposits 3.4%

3. Hobart Airport Infrastructure 2.4%

4. Bankwest Cash and term deposits 1.7%

5. Perth Airport Infrastructure 1.6%

6. Australian Government Treasury Notes Government debt 1.5%

7. Commonwealth Bank of Australia Shares 1.4%

8. Westpac Bank Shares 1.4%

9. ME Bank Cash and term deposits 1.3%

10. National Australia Bank Shares 1.3%

The assets of RBF are invested as a combined pool and allocated to sub-funds as per their Board approved 
asset allocation and RBF’s rebalancing policy. No investment held more than 5% of the total fund assets.
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Investment philosophy
The RBF Board has the following core principles for 
investment management:

•• focus on investing for the longer-term;

•• produce real capital growth over time;

•• provide a degree of downside protection;

•• provide competitive returns;

•• provide transparency of process;

•• be cost and tax conscious; and

•• diversify to reduce risk.

A degree of down-side protection
A feature of RBF’s approach to investment is ‘a 
degree of downside protection’. This means that 
RBF chooses a mix of investment asset types that 
should provide some protection against negative 
returns and chooses managers that are likely to do 
better than average when markets are down. 

It is not possible to avoid all downside risk without 
comprising higher returns longer term.

Be cost and tax conscious
The RBF Board believes that it is returns net of 
fees and taxes that matter, rather than focusing on 
low fees and taxes as objectives in themselves. 
Investments are assessed net of fees and taxes and 
all decisions are made on a value for money basis. 

Strategies to reduce fees and taxes are put in place  
where there is no material risk that these strategies 
will hinder net returns.

How earnings are allocated to members’ 
accounts
RBF uses a unit pricing system to allocate earnings 
to members’ accounts. The number of units 
allocated to each member is determined by the RBF 
Member Investment Choice option that the funds 
are within and the value of the units on the date they 
were purchased. Unit prices are calculated net of 
investment fees and taxation. Unit prices increase 
when net investment earnings are positive and 
decrease when net investment earnings are negative. 

RBF Board’s approach to investment 
governance 
RBF’s investment governance is designed to align 
with the requirements of Superannuation Prudential 
Standard SPS 530 – Investment Governance as if 
RBF were a regulated Fund.

Asset valuation
All direct asset valuations are reviewed on a 
prioritised basis through the RBF Valuation 
Committee. The RBF Valuation Committee consists 
of the Chief Executive Officer (chair), the Chief 
Investments Officer and an external expert. Where 
required, the Valuation Committee can make a 
recommendation to the RBF Board on the valuation 
of an asset. 



Only permanent employees were able 
to contribute, casuals and temporary 
employees were specifically excluded

Males or unmarried females aged 40 at the time of appointment could 
exempt from contributing. Married females could exempt at any time 
(Section 5 1963 Act) as could any officer with adequate alternative super. 

New scheme introduced, super was only for 
permanent full-time officers  

Australian Newsprint Mills’ Boyer plant becomes 
first in world to produce newsprint from hardwood

Floating-arch pontoon bridge Hobart Bridge opens Enid Lyons (later Dame Enid), widow of 
Joseph Lyons, elected first woman member 
of House of Representatives, winning seat 
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Representatives 1943–51
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Mortgage delegations
Changes to RBF’s standard mortgage interest rate 
are approved through the Interest Rate Pricing 
Committee and reported to the Board. The Interest 
Rate Pricing Committee consists of the Chief 
Executive Officer (chair), the Chief Investments 
Officer and the Portfolio Manager, Mortgages. 

Use of derivatives
Derivatives are financial contracts, the value of which 
depends upon the value of an underlying instrument 
or asset (typically a commodity, bond, equity or 
currency, or a combination of these). Derivatives 
can be used to reduce the risk of (or ‘hedge’) an 
investment in the underlying instrument.

RBF’s outsourced investment managers may 
use derivatives if the RBF Board deems this 
appropriate and it is documented in contracts 
with those individual managers. Each investment 
manager which uses derivatives provides RBF with 
risk management statements which outline their 
approach to derivatives.

The RBF Board monitors investment managers to 
confirm that the use of derivatives accords with the 
overall investment strategy and is consistent with  
the performance objectives of each portfolio and 
sub-fund.

The RBF Board uses its currency manager to enter 
into forward exchange contracts to manage foreign 
currency exposures.

The derivatives charge ratio did not exceed 5% at 
any time during the financial year.



Only permanent employees were able 
to contribute, casuals and temporary 
employees were specifically excluded

Males or unmarried females aged 40 at the time of appointment could 
exempt from contributing. Married females could exempt at any time 
(Section 5 1963 Act) as could any officer with adequate alternative super. 

New scheme introduced, super was only for 
permanent full-time officers  

Australian Newsprint Mills’ Boyer plant becomes 
first in world to produce newsprint from hardwood

Floating-arch pontoon bridge Hobart Bridge opens Enid Lyons (later Dame Enid), widow of 
Joseph Lyons, elected first woman member 
of House of Representatives, winning seat 
of Darwin (now Braddon)

19
40

19
41

19
42

19
43

Floating Pontoon Bridge, Hobart 

Dame Enid Lyons, first female 
member of the House of 
Representatives 1943–51

3. Investment overview   •   16RBF Annual Report 2015-16

UP NEXT: Performance snapshot

Australian postage stamp, issued in 1937
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4
Objective Outcome

Members Products and services that meet our members’ goals. Met
RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme and RBF Account 
Based Pension rated Platinum by SuperRatings.

Continued member satisfaction Met
Service level standards were maintained. Low levels of 
complaints were recorded. Continued stakeholders support

Governance Remain compliant and manage risk. Met
Governance continues to be a strength. SuperRatings rates 
RBF governance as ‘well above benchmark’.

People High performance culture that lives our values, achieves our 
goals and celebrates our successes.

Met
A strong focus on staff health and well-being was maintained.  
Staff continued to demonstrate strong resilience and 
preparedness for change. 

Attract, develop and retain the best people. Met
Staff numbers declined during 2015-16 due to expiration of 
fixed term contracts and staff being seconded to Tasplan.

Financial Investment performance for the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation 
Scheme diversified options: 

 • first quartile results in ‘down’ markets and second quartile 
results in ‘up’ markets. 

Met
Each of the diversified investment options met the quartile 
targets. This excellent result has been maintained since  
March 2014.

Investment performance for the Contributory Scheme: 

 • returns of at least CPI plus 4.5% over rolling five year periods.

Met
Objective exceeded.

Manage operating costs through ‘fit for purpose’ solutions. Met

Actual expenses were less than budgeted. Operating costs 
have declined over the past two financial years.

Achieve funds flow targets. Funds flow assessment includes:

 • member contributions;
 • rollovers in and out; and
 • lump sum payments.

Met
Funds flow outcomes exceeded targets, an excellent 
representation of continuing member confidence.

 
Performance snapshot
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The RBF Board manages RBF in accordance with the:

•• Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 2016;

•• Retirement Benefits Act 1993;

•• Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005;

•• Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary 
Superannuation) Regulations 2012;

•• Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 1999;

•• RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme  
Trust Deed;

•• State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 
Trust Deed; 

•• Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation 
Scheme Trust Deed; 

•• Heads of Government Australia agreement 
between the States and Commonwealth 
Governments; and 

•• other applicable laws of the State or the 
Commonwealth. 

Details of RBF’s governing rules are available from 
the RBF website at www.rbf.com.au.  

Our operational bank accounts and funds 
held in provisions and reserves. Fluctuations 
in operational activity impact the balance.

This is our long-term liabilities. This 
predominantly includes employee 
entitlements and operating provisions.

This is our current and deferred tax liability 
to the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

This is the value of our investments under 
management. Investment values fluctuate  
in line with market movements.

Financial summary 

FINANCIAL POSITION
30 June 2016

$’000,000
30 June 2015

$’000,000

Assets  

Cash assets 118  92 

Receivables 3  7 

Investments 5,476  5,313 

Other assets 4  4 

Total assets 5,601  5,416

  

Liabilities  

Payables 7  8 

Provisions 57  49 

Tax liabilities 56  54 

Total liabilities 120  111 

NET ASSETS 5,481  5,305 

https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/content.tpz?TP=PL_Legislation&QL=QL_Legislation
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Financial summary (continued) 

OPERATING STATEMENT
30 June 2016

$’000,000
30 June 2015

 $’000,000 

Investment revenue 235  458 

Direct investment expense (13)  (12) 

 222  446 

Contribution revenue 615  679

Other revenue – –

Total revenue 837  1,125

Total expenses 49  43

Change in net assets before 
income tax

788  1,082

Income tax expense 29  55

Change in net assets after  
income tax

759  1,027

Benefits paid 583  606

NET ASSETS at the beginning  
of the year

5,305  4,884

NET ASSETS at the end of  
the year

5,481  5,305 

Please refer to the ‘Financial statements’ section of this Annual Report for  
the audited financial reports of RBF.

Income received on our investment assets 
including interest, dividends, distributions 
and changes in the value of these 
investments in line with market movements.

Investment costs incurred by us in managing 
the investment assets of RBF. The costs 
fluctuate with the levels of investment  
activity and types of investments made 
during the year.

Contributions to RBF including employer, 
salary sacrifice, member and rollovers in.

Operating expenses may fluctuate year to 
year due to the level of operational activity.

RBF pays tax at 15% on its taxable  
income. This includes investment income, 
taxable contributions less expenses and 
claimable credits.

Lump sums, pensions and rollovers out for 
the year. This fluctuates with member activity.
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UP NEXT: Member services

Australian five pound banknote, part  
of a series first issued in 1953–54



Looking Back:
Evolution of administration

RBF was established in 1904 and the early days 
saw each and every individual member contribution 
received being recorded by hand on a card in the 
member’s file. 

Superannuation pension cheques were  
later produced in a giant machine in the office 

basement, then manually placed in an envelope, 
addressed and posted.

Today of course, all regular contributions are allocated 
to accounts and pension payments distributed direct 
to bank accounts electronically.



Beaconsfield becomes first Australian 
centre to get fluoridated water

House of Assembly gets first two women members, 
Liberals Mabel Miller and Amelia Best

Hobart becomes first Australian city to get parking meters

19
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Proclamation of Lake Pedder National Park 
(later extended to form Southwest National Park)

First ingot poured at Bell Bay aluminium refinery Tasmania gets first woman mayor, Dorothy Edwards of Launceston

Dame Mabel Miller, D.B.E. Tasmanian House 
of Assembly, Deputy Lord Mayor of Hobart 
and member of the Metric Conversion Board

Miss Anu Karkare, World Travelling Guide 
Commissioner for the Asian Area, examines 
a car parking meter during her visit to Hobart

Casting ingots at the Bell Bay 
aluminium works 1958
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Member service

How many we did

5
Women are in the super fast lane 

Did you know?
63% of RBF members are female. 

52% of female members are ‘active’ members, which means that they have had a contribution made to their 
superannuation account in the past 12 months. In contrast, only 43% of male accounts were active in the 
past 12 months.

64% of females made their own top up contributions, in addition to the mandated employer 
Superannuation Guarantee contributions. In contrast, only 36% of males made top up contributions.

 
Member services

RBF’s staff numbers declined during 2015-16 due to expiration of fixed term contracts and staff being seconded to Tasplan. This impacted the number of 
member interactions initiated by RBF during the year. There was no drop in service standards or wait times for personal services requested by members.
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Given the major pending changes to RBF, the RBF 
Board determined that it would not be in the best 
interests of members to pursue significant new 
product developments during 2015-16. However, RBF 
has focused on ‘continuous improvements’ in the 
interim. We have since that time, diversified service 
delivery methods, including:

•• face to face member interviews;

•• telephone member interviews;

•• Skype® interviews;

•• workplace visits and education seminars;

•• workplace interviews;

•• external financial planners program;

•• updated and/or enhanced on line calculators; and

•• providing members with projection benefits on 
their annual Member Benefit Statements.

RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme  
claims experience 
Over the past three years, the following rates of 
payment were applicable to insurance claims under 
the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme:

•• 100%  Death claims;

•• 95.2% Income Protection claims; and

•• 93.9%  Total and Permanent Disablement claims

We are confident that our member insurance claims 
processes are both fair and well managed. 

In December 2015, RBF reviewed and revised 
our external member insurance arrangements for 
the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme and 
reappointed CommInsure for a further two year 
premium guarantee period.

Details of claims paid in 2015-16 are on page 123.
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UP NEXT: Governance and our Board

File room, a common method of record 
management in the 20th century



RBF’s approach to internal audit has evolved  
to a ‘risk based approach’. 

Outcomes

we internally audit those things about which we need more comfort  
that everything is working as it should;

major reduction in the number of policies we maintain;

more meaningful reporting to provide evidence of compliance and 
effectiveness; and

costs of engaging consultants for internal audit have reduced by 25%.

What we did

We took a helicopter view of all the risks, controls and 
assurance activities for RBF. We saw where the gaps  
were and also where there was duplication in our controls. 
Measures such as external audit as well as other reports, 
assurances, reviews and testing are a form of existing control.

1

2

3

4

Looking Back:
Evolution of assurance 
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old pontoon bridge towed away

Play School begins on ABC First television programs from the UK 
are transmitted to Australia via satellite

Black Tuesday bushfires claim 62 lives – 53 in 
Hobart area – and destroy more than 1300 homes
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Strategy setting
RBF’s statement of strategic intent during 2015-16 
was to ‘Deliver uninterrupted investment, product 
and service excellence and implement the Public 
Sector Superannuation Reforms’. This direction 
from the RBF Board meant that notwithstanding 
additional work associated with the implementation 
of the Tasmanian Public Sector Superannuation 
Reforms, there would be no impacts on services  
to RBF members. 

Decision-making principles
The RBF Board established principles to  
guide staff in what to start, stop and continue 
doing in the lead up to the Public Sector 
Superannuation Reforms.

Best interest of members: 
Continue existing business activities which 
remain in the best interests of members.

Start new business activities or continuous  
improvement where:

•• financial ROI is likely to be achieved by  
31 March 2017; and 

•• there are likely benefits for existing RBF 
members post 31 March 2017.

Continued overleaf

6  
Governance and our Board

Public Sector Superannuation Funds 
Conference hosted by RBF
During June 2016, RBF hosted the 2016 Public 
Sector Superannuation Funds Conference which 
brought together senior representatives from nine 
public sector funds in Hobart. The Conference is 
a collegiate forum which allows for open sharing 
of ideas and developments underway. Public 
sector funds have similar concerns, providing 
superannuation and insurance for public sector 
employees, managing often highly complex and 
grandfathered defined benefit schemes and 
dealing with a broad range of stakeholders. The 
Conference was a highly successful and thought 
provoking forum and it is interesting to observe 
the different extent to which public sector funds 
have evolved, from those exempt public sector 
funds still operating close to Government through 
to those that are APRA licensed and generally 
indistinguishable from industry funds.
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Approach to sustainability
The RBF Board has a Statement of Environmental, 
Social and Governance (ESG) Risk Management 
Principles available on the RBF website at  
www.rbf.com.au. This Statement explains the 
principles and actions that RBF uses to run a 
sustainable business and to manage environmental, 
social and governance related risk, commonly 
referred to as ESG risk. 

Future state value: Undertake activities likely 
to add value to the expected ’future state’ of 
defined benefits schemes retained by the 
Government via RBF. 

Risk management:
•• Health and safety: Start and/or continue 

activities that manage any risks to the health 
and safety of RBF employees. 

•• Legal and compliance: Start and/or 
continue activities that enable compliance 
with all relevant laws including the Heads 
of Government Agreement, except where 
conflicting State legislation prevents 
compliance. 

•• Enterprise wide risk: Start and/or continue 
activities that manage enterprise wide risks 
that are outside the Board’s risk tolerance.

RBF is an investor and we know that our investments 
may become more or less profitable in the future as 
a result of changes in society. It is important that we 
think medium- to long-term when investing and this 
longer term perspective is reflected in our Statement 
of Investment Principles and Beliefs.

Investment experts working for RBF look out for the 
following types of factors:

•• new emerging industries for potential investment, 
including renewable energy;

•• industries that may have a short future life-span 
due to changes in technology, community 
expectations or environmental impacts;

•• changes in resource availability and pricing that 
may impact investment returns;

•• political change; 

•• demographic changes; 

•• ensuring that investments are well governed 
including adequate diversity of management; and

•• regulatory change including changes to tax law.

We provide the RBF Socially Responsible  
Investment Member Investment Choice option which 
takes into account environmental, social and ethical 
considerations when investing.

RBF is very active in upgrading commercial office 
buildings that we own as investments in order 
to improve energy efficiency. Improving energy 
efficiency is a win-win:

•• it makes the building more commercially attractive; 

•• tenants are more satisfied; 

•• operating costs are reduced; and

•• environmental impacts are reduced.

https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/content.tpz?TP=PL_Ethics&QL=QL_Ethics
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Members of the RBF Board
There were seven members of the RBF Board at 30 June 2016. The Governor of Tasmania formally appoints 
the members of the RBF Board. The RBF Board is the Trustee of RBF. 

Composition of the RBF Board Changes to appointments during 2015-16

President – non voting
Appointed on the nomination of the Minister with the agreement of Unions Tasmania

Three members (including Deputy President)
Appointed on the nomination of the Minister

New appointment: Leigh Mackey BA LLB
Term: 12 October 2015 – 11 October 2017

Outgoing member: Elizabeth Thomas BA, 
GAICD
Term: 1 November 2012 – 3 September 2015

One member
Elected by members of the Contributory Scheme, Parliamentary Superannuation Scheme, 
State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme and Tasmanian Ambulance Service 
Superannuation Scheme

One member
Elected by members of the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme

One member
Appointed on the nomination of Unions Tasmania

Board members as at 30 June 2016
Brian Scullin 
B Ec
President of the RBF Board (non-voting)

Nominee of the Minister, with the 
agreement of Unions Tasmania. 

Current term 
16 November 2013 – 15 November 2016

Board tenure 
Board member and President since 16 November 2013.

Experience and expertise 
Brian Scullin holds a number of non-executive and industry positions.  
He is currently Chair of the Tasmanian Development Board and Chair  
of Hastings Management Pty Limited Board.

After a career in the federal government public sector, Brian 
served as the inaugural Executive Director of the Association of 
Superannuation Funds of Australia (ASFA) and in various executive 
roles with Bankers Trust and as Regional Head of Asia/Pacific with 
Deutsche Asset Management.

Brian has had a number of non-executive industry roles including 
the Investment and Financial Services Association, the State Super 
Financial Services and BT Investment Management Limited.

Don Challen AM 
B Ec (Hons), M Ec, FAICD,  
FCA, FCPA, FIPAA
Deputy President of the Board

Nominee of the Minister

Current term 
1 November 2013 – 31 October 2016

Board tenure 
Deputy President and Board member since 1 November 2010.

Additional responsibilities  
Chair of the Risk and Audit Committee

Experience and expertise 
Don Challen is currently chairman of the Motor Accidents  
Insurance Board.

Don is a director of Tasmanian Networks Pty Ltd and the Tasmanian 
Symphony Orchestra and is a Senior Advisor with Flagstaff Partners  
Pty Ltd. He has previously served on the Boards of the Tasmanian  
Public Finance Corporation, Transend Networks Pty Ltd, Hydro 
Tasmania, Trust Bank, the Basslink Development Board and the 
Tasmanian Gaming Commission.

Don is an economist, specialising in public finance and was 
Secretary of the Tasmanian Department of Treasury and Finance 
from 1993 to 2010. Don has also held various executive roles within 
the Tasmanian and Commonwealth public sectors.
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Rebekah Burton 
B Ec (Hons)

Nominee of the Minister

Current term 
3 March 2015 – 2 March 2018

Board tenure 
Board member since 3 March 2015.

Additional responsibilities  
Member of the Risk and Audit Committee

Experience and expertise 
Rebekah Burton was Deputy Secretary of the Tasmanian Department 
of Premier and Cabinet until 8 July 2016. She had responsibility for 
telecommunications services and ICT policy across government and 
was Chair of the governing board of Service Tasmania. Her other 
departmental portfolio responsibilities included Local Government 
and Security and Emergency Management.

Rebekah was the Tasmanian Government representative on the 
Review of Government Services Committee of the Productivity 
Commission and the National Counter Terrorism Committee and was 
Chair of the State Security and Emergency Management Group, which 
comprises representatives from all State Government agencies.

Rebekah also has previously worked in the State’s development 
agency and the Department of Treasury and Finance.

Neroli Ellis  
BN, Grad Dip Bus Mngt, FAICD, FAIST

Elected by members of the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme

Current term 
1 September 2013 – 31 August 2016

Board tenure 
Board member since 12 July 2004.

Additional responsibilities  
Member of the Administration and Remuneration Committee

Experience and expertise 
Neroli Ellis is the Branch Secretary of the Tasmanian Branch of the 
Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation. She is a strong health 
advocate with experience in human resources, industrial relations, 
governance and member services.

Neroli has been awarded the divisional Telstra Business Woman  
of the Year and was a Tasmanian Finalist in the Australian of the 
Year. She is a member of numerous community committees and  
a voluntary Director of MyState Ltd Community Foundation.

Lindsay Jones  
JP, GAICD, AAIST

Nominee of Unions Tasmania

Current term 
4 November 2013 – 3 November 2016

Board tenure 
Board member since 13 December 2004.

Additional responsibilities  
Chair of the Administration and Remuneration Committee

Experience and expertise 
Lindsay is a Justice of the Peace and is semi-retired. 

As well as serving on the RBF Board, Lindsay is the Public Officer 
and Board Member of Community Transport Services Tasmania. 

Lindsay previously served as a director of Connect Credit Union 
(formerly Savings & Loans) and as Tasmania Branch Vice President 
of the CPSU. He worked for the Department of Education for  
33 years, including 11 years as District Executive Officer. 

Leigh Mackey  
BA LLB

Nominee of the Minister

Current term 
12 October 2015 – 11 October 2017

Board tenure 
Board member since 12 October 2015.

Additional responsibilities  
Member of the Administration and Remuneration Committee

Experience and expertise 
Leigh is a partner of Ogilvie Jennings and has been practicing 
since 1992 when she was admitted to the Supreme Court of 
Tasmania and the High Court of Australia. Leigh specialises in 
injuries and compensation litigation.

Leigh holds a number of professional appointments including 
Deputy Chair of the Tasmanian Parole Board and Member of the 
Tasmanian Board Australian Medical Board, the Disciplinary Tribunal 
under the Legal Profession Act, the WorkCover Board, the Law 
Foundation and the Civil Disbursement Fund.
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John Mazengarb  
B Com, FCA, FGIA, FCIS, MAICD

Elected by members of the defined  
benefit schemes

Current term 
1 September 2013 – 31 August 2016

Board tenure 
Board member since 1 September 2013.

Additional responsibilities  
Member of the Risk and Audit Committee

Experience and expertise 
John is a Chartered Accountant with over 25 years consulting 
experience with PwC, IBM and Litmus Group, advising public and 
private sector organisations in Tasmania, interstate and overseas. 

John is a member of the National Board and the current Chair 
of the Tasmanian State Council of the Governance Institute of 
Australia, an independent Chair of the Clarence City Council Risk 
and Audit Committee. He is also current Chair of the Tasmanian 
Catholic Education Commission Long Service Leave Fund and an 
independent member of the Investment Committee of TasBuild –  
the Construction Industry Long Service Leave Fund.

John’s previous board roles include member and Chair of the 
Theatre Royal Management Board, director of the award winning 
Hollybank Treetop Adventures Pty Ltd, director of commercial 
enterprises and joint ventures of Forestry Tasmania and Chair of  
the Catholic Development Fund.

RBF Board Committees 
There were two standing RBF Board Committees 
in operation during 2015-16. These Committees 
operated within the powers formally delegated 
by the RBF Board and had the authority to make 
decisions and recommendations to the RBF Board 
on policy. 

•• Administration and Remuneration Committee – 
objective was to provide independent assurance 
and assistance to the RBF Board on its oversight 
responsibility for the insurance framework and 
operational matters not otherwise covered  
by the Risk and Audit Committee.

•• Risk and Audit Committee – objective was to 
provide independent assurance and assistance 
to the RBF Board on RBF’s risk, control and 
compliance framework. 

The RBF Board Committees met quarterly or more 
frequently as required. The Chief Executive Officer 
had a right to attend all Committee meetings and 
Senior Managers were invited to attend meetings  
as necessary. 
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RBF Board and Committee membership  
as at 30 June 2016
Name RBF Board Risk and Audit Committee Administration and 

Remuneration Committee 

Brian Scullin   

Don Challen AM   

Elizabeth Thomas 
(Until 3 September 2015)

  

John Mazengarb   

Leigh Mackey 
(From 12 October 2015)

  

Lindsay Jones   

Neroli Ellis   

Rebekah Burton   

Mr Paul Green, the KPMG Internal Audit Client Relationship Partner, attends all Risk and Audit Committee 
meetings as an independent source of advice. 

In addition to the standing Committees, and as required, the RBF Board appoints a special Committee to 
conduct natural justice hearings in relation to applications by members for review of decisions. 

RBF Board attendance 2015-16 
Name RBF 

Board
RBF 

Board 
special

RBF 
Board 

hearing

Administration 
and 

Remuneration 
Committee

Administration 
and 

Remuneration 
Committee 

special

Risk and Audit 
Committee 

Risk and Audit 
Committee 

special

Brian Scullin 7/8 2/2 3/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Don Challen AM 8/8 2/2 2/2 N/A N/A 3/3 1/1

Elizabeth Thomas2 1/2 1/1 0/0 N/A 1/1 N/A N/A

Leigh Mackey3 6/6 1/1 2/2 2/2 N/A N/A N/A

Lindsay Jones 8/8 2/2 1/1 3/3 1/1 N/A N/A

John Mazengarb 7/8 2/2 2/2 N/A N/A 3/3 1/1

Neroli Ellis 7/8 2/2 1/1 3/3 1/1 N/A N/A

Rebekah Burton 8/8 2/2 1/1 N/A N/A 3/3 1/1

2 Elizabeth Thomas ended her term on the RBF Board on 3 September 2015. 
3  Leigh Mackey commenced with the RBF Board on 12 October 2015 and was appointed to the Administration and Remuneration Committee. 
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Changes to Board composition 2016-17
Two changes to the composition of the RBF Board were triggered by the superannuation reforms:

•• four members of the RBF Board, Brian Scullin, John Mazengarb, Neroli Ellis and Rebekah Burton resigned 
from the RBF Board (and were appointed to the Tasplan Board) when the Successor Fund Transfer of the 
RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme to Tasplan became unconditional on 18 July 2016; and

•• on 8 August 2016, RBF Deputy President Don Challen was appointed RBF President (replacing Brian Scullin) 
and Anton Voss was appointed as a Board member.

The Chair of Superannuation Commission, when appointed, will join the RBF Board.

Senior Management profiles as at 30 June 2016
Philip Mussared  
BA, B Ec (Hons), FCPA, FAICD, FAIM, FARPI

Philip was appointed Chief Executive Officer  
in April 2010.

Philip has 40 years’ experience in a range 
of international, Commonwealth and State 
agencies including at Deputy Secretary level

in the Tasmanian Department of Treasury and Finance, the Tasmanian 
Department of Health and Human Services and the NSW Treasury.

As CEO, Philip has statutory responsibility for the general management 
of the RBF Board’s investment and administration operations. He 
attends all RBF Board meetings and is also Chair of RBF Financial 
Planning Pty Ltd, RBF Direct Pty Ltd and RBF Property Pty Ltd and 
a Director of the Tasmanian Gateway Holdings Corporation group of 
companies which owns Hobart International Airport.

Philip was appointed Chair of the Tasmanian Traineeships and 
Apprenticeships Committee by the Minister for State Growth in  
April 2015.

Nick Connor  
CFP, B Ed, MBA, FAICD

Nick Connor was appointed Chief Operations 
Officer in January 2011.

Nick has over 25 years’ management experience 
in the Tasmanian financial services industry.  
He has served as a director on various boards,

including as an inaugural director of RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd 
(formerly RBF-TAS Planning).

As Chief Operations Officer, Nick is responsible for ensuring that  
the day-to-day operations activities within RBF are consistent with 
RBF’s corporate strategic objectives and goals. Nick is a Director of 
RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd, RBF Direct Pty Ltd and RBF Property 
Pty Ltd.

Ian Lundy  
BSc (Hons), PhD

Ian was appointed Chief Investments Officer  
in March 2011.

Ian has more than 19 years’ experience in  
asset consulting, investment management  
and investment research in Australia and Asia.

As Chief Investments Officer, Ian is responsible for overseeing RBF’s 
investment portfolio and is a Director of the Tasmanian Gateway 
Holdings Corporation group of companies which owns Hobart 
International Airport. Ian is also a Director of RBF’s property trustee 
companies, RBF Direct Pty Ltd and RBF Property Pty Ltd.

Irena Marin  
BBus, CPA

Irena was appointed as the acting Chief 
Financial Officer in April 2016.

Irena has over 16 years’ experience in the 
commercial services industry; in particular

as Finance Manager for the Australian division of a global data 
management marketing services entity listed on the NASDAQ. 
Additionally Irena also has over 4 years’ experience in the  
financial services industry with a background in financial and 
investment accounting.

As acting Chief Financial Officer, Irena is responsible for overseeing 
RBF’s financial, budgetary, accounting, treasury and taxation 
outcomes, managing RBF’s financial risks and supporting the 
achievement of RBF’s strategy.
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Robyn Judd  
B Soc Sc (Psychology), Grad Dip HRM and IR

Robyn was appointed as the Manager, People 
and Performance in August 2012.

Robyn has more than 10 years’ experience as  
a strategic Human Resources professional.  
The five years prior to joining RBF were spent

in senior management positions within the private sector. Robyn’s 
most recent role prior to moving to RBF was for Australia’s largest 
publicly listed gaming company, The Star Casino, and entailed 
providing strategic Human Resources management for more  
than 2000 team members, 20 Senior Managers and four  
General Managers.

As Manager, People and Performance, Robyn is responsible for 
overseeing RBF’s direction with respect to the management and 
development of RBF’s people and culture. Robyn is responsible 
for working collaboratively across the organisation to establish 
and maintain a workplace culture congruent with RBF’s strategic 
direction, to advise on and champion proactive people and culture 
practices, and engage the organisation in best practice initiatives.

Keryn Welch  
B Com, Grad Cert Planning, GAICD

Keryn was appointed as the acting General 
Manager Corporate Support on 25 June 2014.

Keryn has more than 20 years’ experience in 
senior management positions with State and 
Commonwealth government, including the

Family Court of Australia and the Department of Defence in  
Tasmania and Victoria. These roles have been in the areas of 
Corporate Services, Operations and Governance. As General 
Manager Corporate Support, Keryn is responsible for overseeing  
the business specialties of: people and performance; governance, 
risk and compliance; corporate information and technology services; 
change management; and commercial and legal services and  
works closely with the other Divisions to enable the achievement  
of RBF’s strategy.

Keryn is also responsible for providing secretariat services to the 
RBF Board and its subsidiary companies as well as overseeing the 
management of complaints and reviews.

Mark Leis  
B Com (Hons), FCA, M App Fin, GAICD

Mark Leis was appointed acting Manager 
Portfolio Management in April 2016. Prior to  
that he was General Manager Governance  
and Secretariat.

Mark has 18 years’ experience in the financial
services industry and a background in audit and management 
consulting. Mark became a fellow of the Chartered Accountants  
of Australia and New Zealand in 2015.

As Manager Portfolio Management, Mark is responsible for 
excellence in project management and ensures that ideas for 
improvement in all areas of our business are generated, captured 
and leveraged. Mark will be leading RBF’s contribution to the 
implementation of the reforms of state superannuation.

Mark is Company Secretary of the RBF Board’s subsidiaries,  
RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd, RBF Direct Pty Ltd and RBF  
Property Pty Ltd.
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Corporate Governance Principles
This section reports on the RBF Board’s approach to the ASX’s Corporate Governance Principles 
and Australian Prudential Regulation Authority’s Superannuation Prudential Standards.

1.  Lay solid foundations for management 
and oversight: 

The RBF Board has made sure that:

•• the roles, responsibilities and performance 
expectations of the Chief Executive Officer are 
clearly described;

•• performance expectations are balanced with 
the capacity (skills and resources) of the Chief 
Executive Officer to deliver;

•• credible and timely information is to be reported to 
the RBF Board to demonstrate policy compliance 
and good management performance; and

•• having processes in place to oversee compliance 
and management performance and to administer 
consequences, good or bad, related to 
compliance and the performance achieved.

The RBF Board Charter and Governance Policy 
clarify the roles and responsibilities of Board 
members and the Chief Executive Officer. The RBF 
Board Charter is disclosed on the RBF website at 
www.rbf.com.au. 

RBF has a policy that meets Australian Prudential 
Regulation Authority requirements in respect of the 
fitness and propriety of Responsible Officers. The 
RBF Responsible Officers are the seven RBF Board 
members, the members of the RBF Leadership 
Group and the Manager of the People and 
Performance Unit. 

There were no regulatory or statutory breaches of 
professional conduct by Responsible Officers during 
2015-16. 

Chief Executive Officer performance
The Chief Executive Officer is annually appraised 
by the RBF Board with support from the Manager 
People and Performance and input from individual 
Board members and the members of the RBF 
Leadership Group. 

The Chief Executive Officer has clear objectives 
established by the RBF Board that align with the 
strategic direction set by the RBF Board. The annual 
appraisal of the Chief Executive Officer is focused 
on ensuring:

•• achievement of strategic objectives;

•• performance within the established risk  
management framework; 

•• performance that aligns with Australian Prudential 
Regulation Authority Superannuation Prudential 
Standards; and

•• remuneration remains in-line with desired  
market relativity.

RBF Leadership Group performance 
RBF has a Performance Development Framework 
which is designed to encourage high achievement, 
improve and manage individual performance 
and develop managers and staff. Performance 
development links to achievement of RBF’s strategic 
objectives and RBF’s values. 

https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/content.tpz?TP=PL_Board&QL=QL_Board
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Succession planning
The RBF Board has a succession planning policy 
covering RBF staff and executives. 

2. Structure the Board to add value: 
RBF uses a Board members’ skills matrix to ensure 
that gaps in collective knowledge are addressed 
through professional development and, where 
possible, recommendations made for succession 
planning. The RBF Board seeks specialist advice 
as necessary.

The RBF Board has a development plan based 
around the knowledge requirements established by 
the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority. Each 
RBF Board member has a specific annual individual 
learning plan. 

3. Act ethically and responsibly: 

Code of Conduct
The RBF Board has approved a Code of Conduct 
which applies to RBF Board members, employees and 
contractors of RBF and reflects our commitment to: 

1.  strict standards of honesty, integrity and 
professional behaviour;

2.  sensitivity to the diverse needs of our colleagues, 
contractors, members and visitors; and

3.  a safe and healthy working environment free from 
discrimination and harassment.

The RBF Code of Conduct is available on the RBF  
website at www.rbf.com.au. 

There were two reported breaches of the Code 
of Conduct during 2015-16. Each instance was 
investigated and appropriate action taken. 

Register of interests and duties
RBF maintains a register of interests and duties and a 
register of gifts which applies to RBF Board members 
and all staff. RBF’s register of relevant interests and 
duties for Responsible Persons, which includes RBF 
Board members and RBF Leadership Group members, 
is accessible on the RBF website at www.rbf.com.au. 

4. Safeguard integrity in  
corporate reporting: 
The RBF Board complies with the requirements of 
Superannuation Prudential Standard SPS 310 Audit 
and Related Matters in ensuring that the financial 
information and annual information provided to 
members are subject to audit. RBF’s external auditor 
is the Tasmanian Auditor-General.

The RBF Board has established a Risk and Audit 
Committee to ensure the integrity of its reporting. 

5. Make timely and balanced disclosure: 
A Corporate Plan 2015-17 covering the remaining term 
of RBF has been provided to, and with the agreement 
of, the Treasurer.

The RBF Board is required to prepare an Annual 
Report which is tabled by the Treasurer in Parliament. 
Previous Annual Reports are available on the RBF 
website at www.rbf.com.au. 

RBF ensures that it complies with the requirements 
of active disclosure and routine disclosure as 
required by the Right to Information Act 2009 (Tas). 
Further information is available on the RBF website 
at www.rbf.com.au. 

https://secure.superfacts.com/web/IWfiles/attachments/Form/RBF_CodeOfConduct.pdf
https://secure.superfacts.com/attachments/Form/SA011_Doc_RBFRegisterofDutiesInterests.pdf
https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/Documents.tpz
https://secure.superfacts.com/web/IWfiles/attachments/Form/RBF_RightToInformationFactSheet.pdf


CSIRO Marine Laboratories open in Hobart SBS launches in Perth and Hobart Archaeologists discover Aboriginal rock paintings 
in South-West believed to be 20,000 years old
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CSIRO Marine Laboratories

Aboriginal cave painting depicting 
a stencilled hand, believed to be among 
the oldest painting in the world, near 
Maxwell River, Tasmania – 1 April 1986

Change to scheme design reflecting social change − Medical no longer required for membership. 
Prior to 1 April 1987 a four tier medical classification system existed. A certificate = full benefits, 
B certificate = limited benefits, C certificate = defer and review, D = non admittance.

Commercial FM commences in Hobart 
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First large redundancy programmes in Tasmanian Government Savings Bank of Tasmania and Tasmanian Bank 
amalgamate as Trust Bank

19
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The old telegram service, which is run
by Australia Post, ceases

On 27 April, Telstra officially launches the new digital (GSM) network. Optus launches 
GSM in May, and Vodafone launches its GSM digital network in October. The MTS 
Phone System for mobiles is phased out. There are just 635,000 analogue mobiles 
in Australia, and less than 4% of people have one. 
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Australia has achieved the fourth highest mobile penetration per capita in the world 
and the Australian market is growing at a faster rate than the three higher-ranked nations
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Mobile phones 
The Hobart Savings Bank, 
Murray Street, Hobart
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Members are kept informed as required under the 
Superannuation Industry Supervision (SIS) legislation 
through Member Booklets which provide product 
details, and Significant Events Notices which can 
be found on the RBF website at www.rbf.com.au. 

6. Respect the rights of security holders: 
RBF reports to both the Tasmanian Government  
and members as a security holder. RBF is 
transparent in its approach providing information 
such as the RBF Board Charter, Governance  
Policy complaints handling approach, public  
interest disclosure and fraud and ethics, via  
the RBF website at www.rbf.com.au. 

7. Recognise and manage risk:
The RBF Board maintains a Risk Management 
Framework in accordance with the principles of 
the International Standards Organisation, ISO 
31000:2009 Risk Management – Principles and 
Guidelines and Superannuation Prudential Standard 
SPS 220 – Risk Management Requirements. 

RBF’s Risk Management Framework comprises:

•• a Risk Appetite Statement and a Risk 
Management Strategy;

•• Enterprise Wide and Division Risk Registers; and

•• a Strategic Assurance Program.

The RBF Board reviews the enterprise wide risks 
annually, following the confirmation of its strategy 
objectives, and at other times if circumstances 
change. The risks are recorded in the Enterprise 
Wide Risk Register. 

Summary details of RBF’s enterprise wide risks are 
on page 124.

RBF’s Strategic Assurance Program provides the RBF 
Board with assurance about the integrity of our internal 
control systems, together with recommendations to 
improve effectiveness. The outcome of assurance 
activities has given comfort to the RBF Board that it 
is satisfying its obligations and requirements to its 
members and stakeholders.

Our commitment to compliance
The RBF Board is committed to ensuring that RBF 
complies with the principles of the Commonwealth 
Retirement Incomes Policy as reflected in the 
Heads of Government Agreement and associated 
Commonwealth legislation. 

During 2015-16, RBF reported one reportable breach 
to the Department of Treasury and Finance. Neither 
RBF nor RBF Financial Planning incurred any other 
material and/or reportable breaches, fines or sanction 
for non-compliance with any laws or regulations.

Fraud and corruption control
RBF has a fraud and corruption control program 
based on the Australian Standard on Fraud and 
Corruption Control AS 8001-2008. RBF provides  
all its employees with fraud awareness training.  
RBF also publishes information on its website  
at www.rbf.com.au to assist external parties  
to report suspected fraud to the RBF Fraud  
Control Officer. 

During 2015-16, there were no reported instances of 
fraud by staff. There were three minor instances of 
attempted external fraud against RBF identified, with 
a total value of less than $300.

https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/Documents.tpz
https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/content.tpz?TP=PL_SEN&amp;QL=QL_SEN
https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/Home.tpz
https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/content.tpz?TP=PL_Complaints&QL=QL_Complaints
https://secure.superfacts.com/web/IWfiles/attachments/Form/RBF_PublicInterestDisclosures.pdf
https://secure.superfacts.com/web/IWfiles/attachments/Form/RBF_PublicInterestDisclosures.pdf
https://secure.superfacts.com/web/IWfiles/attachments/Form/RBF_FraudAndEthicsFactSheet.pdf
https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/home.tpz
https://secure.superfacts.com/web/IWfiles/attachments/Form/RBF_FraudAndEthicsFactSheet.pdf
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8. Remunerate fairly and responsibly: 
The remuneration of RBF Board members is 
determined by the Minister responsible for the 
Retirement Benefits Act 1993, in accordance with 
Tasmanian Government policy on the remuneration 
of Board members of Government entities. The total 
compensation of RBF Board members comprises 
an annual fee (plus superannuation entitlements), 
paid on a fortnightly basis. 

RBF publicly discloses all remuneration paid to  
RBF Board members, the Chief Executive Officer 
and Senior Managers via our website. Remuneration 
information is available here.

Staff remuneration
RBF staff remuneration for 2015-16 was set under  
the terms of the RBF Staff Agreement 2013-2016.  
The negotiation of the Staff Agreement took into 
account the market rates for superannuation funds 
and conservative financial services organisations, 
market remuneration data and movements  
and forecasts provided by independent 
remuneration consultants. 

During 2015-16, the RBF Board approved the 
continuation of the current Staff Agreement beyond 
1 July 2016.

Related party payments 
Board Members and Senior Management are 
required to provide a declaration of any related 
party transactions each financial year. There were 
no related party payments declared during 2015-16 
outside the normal course of business.

Indemnity insurance 
The RBF Board provided Directors and Officers with 
liability insurance cover for 2015-16. Insurance was 
provided by Zurich.

https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/content.tpz?TP=PL_Remuneration&QL=QL_Remuneration


UP NEXT: People and technology

Typewriter, widely used throughout the 20th 
century before the transition to personal computers



Until the late 1960s, 
single females had 
to forego permanent 
employment if they 
got married, except 
where the Public 
Service Commissioner 
approved otherwise. 
This meant that they 
also had to leave their 
superannuation fund.

In the 1970s and 1980s 
married women could 
choose whether or 
not to contribute to 
superannuation. 

Fast forward to the 
1990s and RBF was 
involved in a large 
exercise to give married 
females who exempted 
out of contributing  
the right to rejoin  
and purchase back  
past service. 
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The changes to RBF scheme designs are a poignant 
reminder of the social change that has taken place in 
Tasmania over the past century. 

Looking Back:
The evolution of women in the workplace 

 Did you know that in the past women had  
to resign from work in the Tasmanian Public 
Service when they got married??

Female office worker – 1950s



An optical fibre link across Bass Strait to Tasmania is completed
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Hobart International Airport 
and Cambridge Aerodrome, 
photographed by NASA

RBF Investment Trust wound up Hobart Ports Corporation succeeds marine board Royal Hobart Hospital announces part privatisation Federal Government sells Hobart and Launceston airportsTasmania becomes first state to formally apologise 
to Aboriginal community for past actions connected 
with the ‘stolen generation’
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7

RBF’s people related objectives are to:

•• develop a high performance culture that lives our values, achieves our goals and celebrates  
our successes; and

•• attract, develop and retain the best people to align with our organisational needs.

Achieving diversity in Senior Management
There has been a major evolution in the diversity of the RBF Board and Senior Management over the 
past three years. As at 30 June 2013, due to a range of circumstances, the RBF Board contained only 
two females out of seven members and the Senior Management team comprised all males. This was  
out of step with RBF’s fund membership which comprises 63% females.

What we did:

•• RBF drew attention to the Board gender imbalance in the nomination process conducted by  
the Minister and Unions Tasmania; and

•• put in place programs aimed at providing development opportunities for women. They were:

•• a quarterly ‘inspire women’ group;

•• financial support for the Women in Super network; 

•• rotation of all people leaders to attend the RBF Leadership Group meetings; 

•• individual development plans; and

•• an external leadership development program for women. 

Outcome:

As at 30 June 2016, RBF’s Senior Management comprised an equal number of males and  
females and the Board comprised four males and three females.

1
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Legislation passed to separate Hydro-Electric Commission into 
three bodies: Aurora Energy, Transend Networks and Hydro Tasmania

Official opening of Port Arthur Visitor Centre Tasmania voted the best temperate island in 
the world by the world’s largest travel magazine, 
Conde Nast Traveler

The Sydney 2000 Summer Olympics’ opening ceremony 
becomes one of the highest-rating programs in Australian 
television history

Defined Benefits Scheme closed to new employees. 
Certain employees retained rights to join.

19
99

20
00

Gordon Dam Port Arthur

Member Investment Choice commenced – five options

2000 Summer Olympics 
closing ceremony fireworks
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Safe and healthy workplace
RBF is committed to providing a safe and healthy 
work environment for our employees and all visitors, 
including RBF members and contractors. RBF’s 
Work Health and Safety Policy aligns with the Work 
Health and Safety Act 2012 (Tas) and is supported 
by an implemented electronic learning program.

Work health and safety metrics 

2015-16 2014-15

Number of reported incidents 9 9

Number of lost time injuries 0 1

Number of workers compensation  
claims lodged

1 2

Supporting people through uncertainty and change

Our goal

To ensure that RBF’s staff stayed healthy and that a positive culture was maintained throughout  
the superannuation reforms.

What we did

Supported our people with:

•• a comprehensive health and well-being program to support physical and mental health; 

•• flexible work arrangements including job sharing, working part-time, variable hours and  
telecommuting; and 

•• a personal development program. 

Results

•• 88% of employees feel that the health and wellbeing services provided are important or  
very important; 

•• 80% of employees have noticed a positive change in their general health and wellbeing; and 

•• 53% of employees reported improvements in their sleep, diet, energy levels, general fitness and 
stress tolerance.

We have seen first-hand how these results have supported RBF staff to perform at a high level. RBF’s 
program has been so successful that RBF was featured as a case study for Employer of Choice.

1
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RBF gender tree
RBF’s ‘gender tree’ at 30 June 2016 shows the gender of the RBF Board, the Senior Management team and 
direct reports.

Manager,  
Member Solutions

Manager,  
Marketing

Manager,  
Product 

Manager, People  
and Performance4

Manager, Portfolio 
Management4

Manager,  
Information and 

Technology Services

Strategy Advisor

Executive  
Officer Board

Portfolio Analyst

Manager,  
Governance, Risk  
and Compliance

Investments Analyst

Investment 
Operations Analyst

Portfolio Manager, 
Properties

Portfolio Manager, 
Mortgages

Portfolio Analyst

Manager, Taxation  
and Accounting

Manager,  
Financial Services

Chief Operations  
Officer4

A/General Manager 
Corporate Support4 

Chief Investments  
Officer4

A/Chief Financial  
Officer4

Position filled  
by a female  

staff member

Position filled  
by a male  

staff member
Position Vacant

4 This role forms part of the RBF Leadership Group. 

Chief Executive  
Officer4

Superannuation Guarantee obligations
RBF in 2015-16 met its obligations under the Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 in respect of all 
of its employees.
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UP NEXT: Feedback and 
public interest disclosures

Electronic data processing center, c. 1960s–70s
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Member service

How many we did

8
Procedure to lodge a complaint
Members who have a complaint are asked to submit 
it in writing to the Complaints Officer at RBF, by 
letter or by filling out a Complaint form available 
from RBF’s website at www.rbf.com.au. If this is 
not possible, assistance is available from RBF in 
lodging a complaint.

There is no charge to lodge a complaint with RBF.  
The principles of natural justice apply to all complaints. 

External review of complaints
RBF provides members with a means by which to 
seek resolution of their complaints via an external 
dispute resolution scheme if a satisfactory resolution 
cannot be achieved through our internal complaints 
handling process.

That external body is Ombudsman Tasmania, an 
independent officer appointed by the Governor of 
Tasmania. Complaints must be lodged with the 
Ombudsman within certain time limits. 

There were four matters referred by RBF members 
to the Ombudsman Tasmania during 2015-16, four in 
2014-15 and one in 2013-14. Ombudsman Tasmania 
investigated the matters and where relevant, made 
recommendations for RBF’s consideration.

Feedback and public  
interest disclosures

RBF members also may ask RBF to make application 
to the Supreme Court for a determination regarding 
a decision of the RBF Board. The Board was not 
asked to make any applications in either 2015-16  
or 2014-15. Two applications were made in 2013-14.

A former member of the Contributory Scheme 
instituted proceedings against the RBF Board 
in the Supreme Court on 28 May 2015 claiming 
reinstatement to the Contributory Scheme. The 
member was successful at first instance and RBF 
lodged an appeal of the trial Judge’s decision which 
was heard in the Supreme Court on 26 July 2016. 
The decision of the appeal court had not been 
handed down at the time of writing.

Complaints received

https://secure.superfacts.com/attachments/Form/RBF_ElectronicComplaintsForm.pdf


Allocated pension officially offered Launceston Office opened RBF obtains its dealers licence to provide limited financial planning 
services to RBF members. RBF-TAS Planning is a partnership 
arrangement between RBF and Connect Credit Union to provide 
limited financial planning services to RBF members. RBF-TAS 
Planning opened for business 10 September 2001.

10 Days on the Island begins. 
It is Tasmania’s biggest cultural 
festival in a century.

20
01

People urged by Tasmanian Fire Service to abandon their 
Australia Day long-weekend plans and prepare their homes 
for a potential firestorm as a number of fires pose the worst 
fire threat in 30 years

20
03

20
02

Member Investment Choice expanded 
to 12 options with the introduction of 
seven additional options

Parliamentary schemes incorporated into RBF
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RBF Financial Planning complaints process

Procedure to lodge a complaint
Members who have a complaint about services 
provided by RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd are asked 
to contact their RBF Financial Planner about the 
complaint directly in the first instance. If the complaint 
is not resolved to the member’s satisfaction within  
five days, members have the option to contact  
RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd by phone or letter. 

There is no charge to lodge a complaint with  
RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd. The principles  
of natural justice apply to all complaints. 

Number of complaints
There were no formal complaints relating to  
financial planning advice in 2015-16, compared  
with one formal complaint in 2014-15 and two  
formal complaints in 2013-14. 

External review of complaint
RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd provides members 
with a means by which to seek resolution of their 
complaints via an external dispute resolution 
scheme if a satisfactory resolution cannot be 
achieved through our internal complaints handling 
process. That external body is the Financial 
Ombudsman Service. 

There were no matters referred to the Financial 
Ombudsman Service in 2015-16 or 2014-15.

RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd is regulated by the 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission 
(ASIC). The ASIC website contains useful information 
in relation to the types of complaints they handle.  
To obtain further information, contact ASIC on  
1300 300 630 or visit www.asic.gov.au. 

Enquiries and requests for information

Any enquiries received by the RBF Enquiry Line that 
are determined to be a complaint are recorded and 
referred to the RBF officer responsible for enquiries 
and complaints.

Requests for prescribed information under the 
Corporations Act 2001 are normally required  
in writing. No requests were made in 2015-16  
or 2014-15. 

Applications made pursuant to the Right to 
Information Act 2009 are dealt with in accordance 
with that Act. No application under the Right to 
Information Act 2009 was determined by RBF  
in 2015-16 or 2014-15.

A family law enquiry must be responded to within 
a reasonable time having regard to the information 
requested and family law legislation. There were 
229 family law enquiries in 2015-16, compared to 
73 family law enquiries received in 2014-15.

Fees may apply for family law applications and 
applications under the Right to Information Act 2009.

Privacy

Enquiries and complaints are treated as confidential 
by both RBF and RBF Financial Planning. RBF 
complies with the personal information protection 
principles contained in the Personal Information 
Protection Act 2004 (Tas). RBF Financial Planning 
complies with the Australian Privacy Principles 
contained in the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth).

For more information, please refer to the RBF Privacy 
Policy Statement and the RBF Financial Planning 
Privacy Policy, both of which can be found on the 
RBF website at www.rbf.com.au.

https://secure.superfacts.com/attachments/Form/RBF_PrivacyPolicy.pdf
https://secure.superfacts.com/attachments/Form/RBF_PrivacyPolicy.pdf
https://secure.superfacts.com/attachments/Form/RBF_FinancialPlanningPrivacyPolicy.pdf
https://secure.superfacts.com/attachments/Form/RBF_FinancialPlanningPrivacyPolicy.pdf
https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/Privacy.tpz
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The RBF Board has implemented a framework 
to support the management of public interest 
disclosures at RBF. More information about who 
can make a public interest disclosure, what types 
of things can be disclosed, the legal protection 
available and who a disclosure can be made to, is 
available on the RBF website at www.rbf.com.au. 
You can also obtain details of RBF’s public interest 
disclosure procedures by contacting either of the 
following RBF Public Interest Disclosures Officers:

Mr Mark O’Neill
Manager, Member Solutions 
Ground Floor, 21 Kirksway Place 
Hobart TAS 7000 
Phone: (03) 6165 1836 
Email: Mark.O’Neill@rbf.com.au

Mrs Judith Keith
Manager, Product  
Ground Floor, 21 Kirksway Place 
Hobart TAS 7000 
Phone: (03) 6165 1833 
Email: Judith.Keith@rbf.com.au

Public interest disclosures

The objectives of the Public Interest Disclosures  
Act 2002 are to:

•• encourage and facilitate disclosures of improper 
conduct by public officers and public bodies; 

•• protect a person making a disclosure from reprisals; 

•• protect other relevant persons from reprisals; 

•• provide for the matters disclosed to be properly 
investigated and dealt with; and 

•• provide all parties involved with natural justice.

During 2015-16 there were:

•• no disclosures made to RBF, either public interest 
disclosures or otherwise;

•• no disclosed matters referred to RBF by the 
Ombudsman;

•• no disclosures referred by RBF to the 
Ombudsman to investigate;

•• no matters taken over by the Ombudsman from 
RBF during the year;

•• no disclosed matters that RBF decided not to 
investigate during the year;

•• no disclosed matters that were substantiated  
on investigation; and

•• no recommendations made by the Ombudsman 
to RBF in relation to the Public Interest  
Disclosures Act.

https://secure.superfacts.com/web/IWfiles/attachments/Form/RBF_PublicInterestDisclosures.pdf
mailto:Mark.O%E2%80%99Neill%40rbf.com.au?subject=
mailto:Judith.Keith%40rbf.com.au?subject=


Official opening of the restored Queenstown to Regatta Point 
railway line West Coast Wilderness Railway

Tasmania passed some of the most progressive 
relationship laws in the world including same-sex 
adoptions and registration of ‘significant’ relationships

Commonwealth Government introduces 
Co-contributions – a superannuation contribution 
made by the Commonwealth to low income earners

RBF funds under 
management hits $2Bn

Salary sacrifice into the
Contributory Scheme introduced

The date the Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2006 
received Royal Assent. An Act to provide for the winding-up of the Provident Fund and the continuation 
and management of the funds of the Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme as a 
sub fund of the Retirement Benefits Fund, and to amend the Ambulance Service Act 1982 and the 
Public Sector Reform Act 1999.
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Page 1

RETIREMENT BENEFITS FUND BOARD
TRUSTEE’S STATEMENT

In  the  opinion  of  the  Retirement  Benefits  Fund  Board  (the  Board)  as  Trustee  of  the
Retirement Benefits Fund (RBF):

1. the accompanying financial statements of RBF are properly drawn up so as to present
fairly the financial position of RBF as at 30 June 2016 and the results of its operations
and cash flows for the year ended on that date in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional requirements in Australia; and

2. RBF has been conducted in accordance with the provisions of the;

»Retirement Benefits Act 1993
»Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005
»Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) Regulations 2012
»Retirement Benefits Fund (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005
»Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act
2006

»Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed
»State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed
»Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board.

D W Challen AM FCA FCPA L Jones
President Board member

Date: 11 August 2016 Date: 11 August 2016

Trustee’s statement
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Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2016   

Note
2016

$’000
2015

$’000

ASSETS

Cash assets

Cash at bank 2(f), 29(b)  118,278  92,250 

Receivables

Contributions and pensions 3(a) 1,288  4,453 

Investment income accrued 3(b) 1,077  1,073 

Other 3(c) 726  946 

GST 89  186 

3,180  6,658 

Investments

Australian equities 1,010,375  1,000,967 

International equities 1,136,939  1,146,158 

Diversified fixed interest 5 601,490  569,929 

Property 598,292  528,743 

Alternative investments 1,340,566  1,177,545 

Cash deposits 787,920  889,962 

5,475,582  5,313,304 

Other assets

Plant, equipment and intangibles 56  83 

RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd 2(w) 177  176 

Deferred tax asset 4(d) 4,062  3,407 

4,295  3,666 

Total assets 5,601,335  5,415,878 

LIABILITIES

Payables

Other 6 7,411  8,286 

Provisions

Contributions in advance 7 4,115  4,236 

General operating provision 8(a) 24,381  20,439 

Provision for death and incapacity insurance 8(b) 3,161  3,100 

Provision for board employee entitlements 8(c) 25,208  20,523 

56,865  48,298 

Tax liabilities

Provision for income tax 4(c) 10,142  11,810 

Deferred tax liability 4(e) 44,939  41,241 

Superannuation contributions surcharge payable 826  889 

55,907  53,940 

Total liabilities 120,183  110,524 

Net assets available to pay benefits 5,481,152  5,305,354 

Represented by liabilities for accrued benefits

Allocated to members’ accounts – RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 11 3,598,926  3,441,481 

Allocated to members’ accounts – Defined benefit sub-funds 12 1,865,841  1,850,942 

Not yet allocated  3,088  (115)

Reserves 9  13,297  13,046 

Net liability for accrued benefits 5,481,152  5,305,354 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Operating statement for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note
2016

$’000
2015

$’000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest 15 48,724  48,559 

Dividends 15 54,987  49,939 

Distributions 15 131,651  162,902 

Property rentals 15 3,773  3,340 

Movement in net market values of investments 16  (3,874)  193,534 

235,261  458,274 

Less direct investment expenses 13,230  12,482 

Gross profit on investment activities 222,031  445,792 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE

Employer contributions 484,920  516,743 

Member contributions 83,740  107,669 

Transfers in 46,173  54,733 

614,833  679,145 

Other revenue 17 286  175 

Total revenue 837,150  1,125,112 

EXPENSES

General administration expense 18 31,761  29,281 

General operating fee – taxation component (credit)/charge  4,208  3,303 

Insurance 251  324 

Death and incapacity insurance fee 8(b) 13,255  9,742 

Total expenses 49,475  42,650 

Benefits accrued as a result of operations before income tax 787,675  1,082,462 

Income tax expenses 4(a) 29,148  54,879 

Benefits accrued as a result of operations after income tax 758,527  1,027,583 

Benefits paid 582,729  606,145 

Liability for accrued benefits at the beginning of the financial year  5,305,354  4,883,916 

Liability for accrued benefits at the end of the financial year  5,481,152  5,305,354 

The above operating statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of cash flow for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note
2016

$’000
2015

$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Employer contributions 488,184  514,079 

Member contributions 83,740  107,669 

Transfers from other funds 46,173  54,733 

Interest received 8,037  8,707 

Distributions received 2,929  3,248 

Property rentals 3,773  3,340 

Other receipts – general operating provision 312  210 

Benefits paid (582,729)  (606,145)

Direct investment payments (13,353)  (11,977)

Management fee paid (27,997)  (29,107)

Income tax paid (27,773)  (31,754)

Insurance (251)  (324)

Death and incapacity benefits paid (13,194)  (11,496)

Superannuation contributions surcharge paid (63)  (331)

Net cash inflows/(outflows) from operating activities 29(a)  (32,212)  852 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of investments 970,427  1,772,054 

Payments for purchase of investments (912,187)  (1,785,299)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities  58,240  (13,245)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  26,028  (12,393)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  92,250  104,643 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 29(b)  118,278  92,250 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. Operation of RBF
The Retirement Benefits Fund (RBF) is a defined benefit fund and a defined contribution fund, domiciled in Australia that 
provides benefits to its members pursuant to the provisions of the:

•• Retirement Benefits Act 1993

•• Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005

•• Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) Regulations 2012

•• Retirement Benefits Fund (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005

•• Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2006

•• RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed

•• State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed

•• Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed

The address of RBF’s registered office is 21 Kirksway Place, Hobart, Tasmania, 7000.

The Trustee of RBF is the Retirement Benefits Fund Board (ABN: 97 724 593 931).

‘RBF’ refers to the Retirement Benefits Fund (ABN: 51 737 334 954) as a whole when referenced throughout the financial 
statements and includes the following as sub-funds: 

Defined benefit sub-funds:

•• Contributory Scheme (closed 15 May 1999)

•• Parliamentary Superannuation Fund (closed 11 November 1985)

•• Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund (closed 1 July 1999)

•• State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme (closed 1 May 2006)

•• Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme (closed 30 June 2006).

Each of the defined benefit sub-funds has been closed to new members. 

Defined contribution sub-fund:

•• RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 

‘The Board’ refers to the Retirement Benefits Fund Board (ABN: 97 724 593 931) as Trustee of RBF when referenced 
throughout the financial statements.

Retirement Benefits Fund
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting  
Standard AAS 25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ (AAS 25) as amended by AASB 2005–13 ‘Amendments  
to Australian Accounting Standards (AAS 25)’, other applicable Accounting Standards, other mandatory requirements,  
the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993, the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed, and relevant 
legislative requirements. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 11 August 2016.

The financial statements were aggregated at a RBF level for reporting periods ending 30 June 2014 onwards and individual 
sub-fund information can be found in notes 10, 11 and 12.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, being the functional currency, and has been rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars.

(b) Statement of compliance 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) form the basis of Australian Accounting Standards adopted by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). Certain requirements of AAS 25 however differ from the equivalent 
requirements that would be applied under IFRS. Since AAS 25 is the principal standard that applies to the financial statements, 
other standards, including IFRS, are also applied where necessary except to the extent that they differ from AAS 25.

(c) New accounting standards for application in future periods

The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identified as those which may impact  
the entity in the period of initial application. They have mandatory application dates for future reporting periods and RBF  
has decided not to early adopt.

•• AASB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2014), and associated Amending Standards (applicable for annual reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018). 

•• AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after  
1 January 2018). 

•• AASB 16: Leases (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019).

•• AASB 2015–6: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public 
Sector Entities was issued in March 2015. This standard makes amendments to AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures to 
extend the scope of that standard to include not-for-profit public sector entities and applies to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2016.

If the above accounting standards had been adopted, the Board does not believe that there would have been a material 
impact to either the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2016 or the operating statement for the year to 30 June 2016.

AASB 1056: Superannuation Entities has been released and is applicable for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016, 
with early adoption allowed. This Standard, when effective, will supersede the current accounting requirements in AAS25: 
Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans.

The key changes that will affect RBF on initial application of AASB 1056 include the requirement to:

•• value all its assets and liabilities (except accrued benefits and tax balances) at fair value (excluding disposal costs) through 
profit or loss. The estimated 2016–17 disposal costs that will be excluded from the fair value of RBF’s investment assets 
are $6,851,466 (based on the 2015–16 disposal costs);

•• value all employer-sponsor receivables at their intrinsic value; and

•• measure all accrued benefits:

•• in the case of a defined contribution sub-fund, at the amount of member balances outstanding at the reporting date; and

•• in the case of a defined benefit sub-fund, at the required net cash inflow from investments to meet the obligation.
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The Standard also requires an entity to prepare an income statement, a statement of financial position, a statement of changes 
in equity/reserves, a statement of cash flows and a statement of changes in member benefits, irrespective of the type of fund. 
The Standard also requires a host of additional disclosures to be made. 

Although the Board anticipates that the adoption of AASB 1056 may have an impact of RBF’s financial statements, it is 
impracticable at this stage to provide a reasonable estimate of the entire impact. 

(d) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires the Trustees to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable in the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying values of  
assets and liabilities where they are not available from independent sources. The key estimates and assumptions that have  
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the values of assets and liabilities are:

•• valuation of accrued benefits – the amount of accrued benefits has been actuarially determined. The key assumptions  
are discussed in notes 10 and 12;

•• valuation of investments – the key valuation measures are set out in note 2(e); and

•• valuation of the Board’s employee entitlements and superannuation commitments – the key valuation measures are set 
out in note 25.

(e) Investments 

Investments of RBF are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given. 

After initial recognition, investments and derivatives are measured at net market value in the statement of financial position 
as at reporting date. Movements in the net market value of investments and derivatives are recognised in the operating 
statement in the periods in which they occur.

The net market value of investments has been determined as follows: 

•• cash and cash equivalents are valued at face value;

•• listed equities are recorded at the ‘last’ price quoted at the reporting date on the exchange that the equity is listed less  
a provision for disposal costs;

•• unlisted equities are valued at net market value using the valuation techniques noted below;

•• bonds are measured at their capital fair value using the valuation techniques noted below;

•• foreign exchange contracts are measured at fair value (the present value of all future cash flows);

•• options and futures are recognised at their quoted published prices in an active market and on exchange bid or offer prices;

•• direct properties are valued at their net market values as determined by an independent valuer; and

•• all other investments are valued at their carrying value which approximates their net market value as assessed by  
the Board.

The valuation techniques include the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 
instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cash flow techniques, option pricing models or other valuation techniques 
that provide a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

The investments of RBF are managed on behalf of the Board by selected investment managers. Disclosure of the investment 
managers are detailed in Appendix D ‘Funds under management’ on page 114 of this Annual Report.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank, cash on hand and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash at bank and 
cash deposits that are readily convertible to cash on hand and that are used in the cash management function on a  
day-to-day basis.
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(g) Other receivables and other payables

Other receivables are carried at nominal amounts due, which approximate net market value. Sundry debtors are normally 
settled within 30 days. An allowance for uncollectible amounts is only made where there is objective evidence that the debt 
will not be collected. Prepayments are non-interest bearing and expensed over the terms of the relevant contract. 

Other payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to 
RBF or the Board, and are carried at nominal amounts which approximate net market value. Sundry creditors and accrued 
expenses are normally settled on 30 day terms. 

(h) Accrued defined benefits

The liability for accrued defined benefits of RBF at 30 June 2016 is not included in the statement of financial position, the 
amount being reported by way of note 12.

The amount of accrued defined benefits is determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which 
arise from membership of the defined benefit sub-fund, to the measurement date. The figure reported in note 12 has been 
determined by reference to expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate 
and relevant actuarial assumptions.

A copy of a statement prepared by RBF’s Actuary, calculation of vested and accrued benefits in accordance with AAS 25  
for the Retirement Benefits Fund as at 30 June 2016 is appended to the financial statements (Appendix B).

(i) Accrued contribution benefits

The liability for accrued benefits in the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme is the present obligation to pay benefits to 
members and beneficiaries. This has been calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the assets and  
the carrying amount of the sundry liabilities and income tax liabilities as at the reporting date.

(j) Employee entitlements

Provision is made for RBF’s liability for employee entitlements arising from services rendered by the Board’s employees to the 
end of the financial year. These benefits include annual leave, long service leave and superannuation. Employee entitlements 
expected to be settled within one year arising from salaries, annual leave and long service leave, have been measured at 
their nominal amount. Other employee entitlements, payable later than one year, have been measured at the present value 
of the estimated cash flow in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. In determining the present 
value of future cash flows, the interest rates attaching to government securities, which have terms to maturity, approximating 
the terms of the related liability, are used.

Employee entitlement expenses are in respect of the following categories:

•• wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave and sick leave; and

•• other types of employee entitlements;

and are included within the operating statement on a net basis in their respective categories.

Superannuation contributions to employees’ accumulation funds are charged as expenses when incurred. Increases in liabilities 
of employees’ defined benefit funds are charged as expenses when incurred.

(k) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable the economic benefits will flow to RBF and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

Movement in net market values

Changes in the net market value of investments are calculated as the difference between the net market value at sale, or at 
balance date, and the net market value at the previous valuation point. All changes are recognised in the operating statement.

Contributions revenue

Contributions are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded, net of any tax, in the period to 
which they relate. 
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Interest

Interest revenues are recognised when the control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment in, 
assets has been attained.

Dividends

Dividends on quoted equities are recognised on the date the dividend is declared.

Distributions

Distributions are recognised as at the date the unit value is quoted ex-distribution and where not received at reporting date, 
are reflected in the statement of financial position as a receivable at net market value. 

Rent income

Rent on RBF’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

(l) Foreign currency 

Both the functional and presentation currency of RBF is Australian dollars.

Cash and investment transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign currency exchange rate ruling at the date 
of the transaction into the portfolio currency equivalents (the ‘functional currency’).

Subsequently foreign denominated cash and investments are re-valued, using the exchange rate at the reporting date into the 
functional currency. Foreign currency exchange differences arising on translation and realised gains and losses on disposals  
or settlements of monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the operating statement in the period in which they arise.

(m) Leases

Leases are classified at their inception as either an operating or finance lease based on the economic substance of the 
agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

Operating leases

The minimum operating lease payments, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership 
of the leased item, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis in the periods in which they are incurred.

(n) Income tax

RBF is part of a complying superannuation fund for the purposes of the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act. 
Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied to RBF’s taxable income.

Income tax on the statement of financial position for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is reflected  
in the operating statement.

Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is calculated 
on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences. To the extent temporary differences occur between the 
time items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining taxable income, 
the net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates, is disclosed as a deferred tax asset or a deferred tax 
liability. The net deferred tax asset, relating to tax losses and temporary differences, is not carried forward as an asset unless 
the benefit has a high probability of being realised. Capital gains tax applicable on unrealised investment gains or losses has 
been included in the income tax expense.

The deferred tax liability would be expected to be settled 12 months or more from the reporting date as it relates to 
investments which are maintained for a long-term objective. 

(o) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues are recognised net of the amount of GST where applicable. Expenses and assets are also recognised net of the 
amount of GST where applicable to the extent that the GST is recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). Where GST 
is not recoverable, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as an expense item as applicable.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable from the taxation authority is 
included as part of receivables in the statement of financial position.
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In the statement of cash flows, the GST component of cash flows arising from operating, investing or financing activities, 
which are either recoverable from or payable to the ATO, is in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standard 
classification of operating costs.

(p) No tax file number (TFN) contributions tax

Where a member does not provide their TFN to RBF, RBF may be required to pay no-TFN contributions tax at a rate  
of 34% on contributions received from and on behalf of the member. The no-TFN contributions tax applies in addition  
to the concessional contributions tax rate of 15% applicable to such contributions.

A no-TFN contributions tax liability recognised by RBF will be charged to the relevant member’s no-TFN contributions tax 
liability and the tax offset will be included in the relevant member’s account.

(q) Superannuation contributions surcharge

The Superannuation Laws Amendment (Abolition of Surcharge) Act 2005 abolishes both the superannuation contributions 
surcharge and the termination payments surcharge in respect of superannuation contributions and certain termination 
payments made or received on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for superannuation contributions surcharge in respect of 
contributions and payments for the year ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. 
Interest will continue to be debited to outstanding balances on members’ accounts.

Superannuation contribution surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions for a relevant year on the basis of the 
individual member’s adjusted taxable income for that year. The liability for the superannuation contribution surcharge  
is recognised when the assessment is received, as the Board considers this is when it can be reliably measured.

The amount of the liability brought to account at balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 through  
to 30 June 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and reported to the 
Board. The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by the Board has been charged to the relevant members’ accounts.

(r) Plant, equipment and intangibles

Fixtures and fittings, computer hardware, other plant and equipment and intangibles, including work in progress, are 
recorded at historic cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of projects and self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct 
labour and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition of its intended use.

All applicable items of plant, equipment and intangibles having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated or 
amortised over their useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their service potential, unless a project is 
approved by the Board as being of a strategic nature, i.e. transforming the business for the members. Strategic projects are 
either partly or fully funded from outside the operating and fund expenses budget. The cost is initially capitalised and on its 
completion the capitalised cost is expensed against the appropriate reserve pool or investment assets. The cost of projects 
that affect both the Contributory Scheme and the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme is allocated in accordance with 
RBF’s activity based costing methodology. 

(s) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

Operating provisions represent fees deducted from members to pay for administration, investment management and income 
tax expenses. Information about the general operating provision can be found in note 8(a). 

(t) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

(u) Unit pricing

RBF moved to a unit pricing environment as at 15 March 2013. In a unitised environment the net value of RBF’s investment 
assets are broken into portions of ownership. Each beneficiary’s interests are expressed as a proportion of the underlying 
investment pools in which they are invested. 
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For the defined benefit sub-funds a notional unit price is calculated for the purposes of deriving returns on investment assets. 
The unit price is not used for the calculation of member benefits. 

(v) Reserves

Reserves are established and maintained to protect the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme and its members against 
the financial effects of possible future adverse risk events, to fund initiatives to ensure that the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation 
Scheme is able to continually develop in line with the needs of members and for future expenditure where there are no 
sources of future external funding.

(w) RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd

RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Board and has been accounted for as an investment.  
RBF has chosen not to apply AASB 127: Separate Financial Statements or AASB10: Consolidated Financial Statements  
as the total asset value of RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd is not material.

3. Receivables

(a) Contributions and pensions receivables

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

Pension debtors 246 1,832

Exit debtors 1,042 2,588

Contribution debtors – 33

1,288 4,453

Pension debtors consist of ongoing fortnightly claims owed to RBF from Tasmanian State Government departments and 
other agencies for retired members. 

Contribution debtors consist of employer and member contributions owed by Tasmanian State Government departments and 
other agencies to RBF at year end. 

Exit debtors consist of lump sum payments, resulting from members satisfying required conditions of release, owed by 
Tasmanian State Government departments and other agencies to RBF at year end.

(b)  Investment income accrued 

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

Investment income accrued 1,077 1,073

Investment income accrued consists of distributions and interest declared at year end but not yet received.

(c) Other receivables

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

Recoverable within 12 months

Prepayments 725 945

Fringe benefits tax refund receivable 1 1

726 946

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk, in respect to debtors, is the fair value of receivables.
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4. Income tax
As RBF is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for tax 
purposes. Accordingly, RBF is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions and capital gains, 
with deductions allowable for administration expenses, but not benefits paid. A reconciliation of income tax expense, with 
revenues and expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

(a) The components of the income tax expense comprise

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Current tax expense 31,492 34,841

Deferred tax expense 3,598 19,924

(Over)/under provision prior years – current tax (5,388) 820

Over provision prior years – deferred tax (554) (706)

29,148 54,879

(b) The prima facie tax on change in net assets before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Benefits accrued before income tax 787,675 1,082,462

Prima facie tax expense on benefits accrued before income tax at 15% 118,151 162,369

Add tax effect of

Tax credits (gross up) 2,943 3,006

Other 323 410

3,266 3,416

Less tax effect of

Member contributions 12,004 15,827

Untaxed contributions 34,238 31,327

Rollovers in non-taxable 6,673 8,809

Pre 1 July 1988 funding credits 525 1,792

Exempt investment income 75 648

Discount on unrealised gains 2,562 14,764

Pension exemption 10,886 17,783

Death and invalidity – tax deduction 142 172

Death benefit increase – tax deduction 403 411

67,508 91,533

Less tax effect of

No tax file number tax (charge)/refund (28) 78

Tax credits 18,847 19,409

18,819 19,487

Current year income tax expense 35,090 54,765

(Over)/under provision for prior years (note 4(a)) (5,942) 114

Total income tax expense 29,148 54,879

(c) Balances as at 30 June

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

Income tax payable 31,464 34,919

Payments made in year (21,322) (23,109)

Amounts payable at year end 10,142 11,810
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(d) Deferred tax asset

Opening balance
$’000

Charge to  
operating statement

$’000
Closing balance

$’000

Administration expenses 3,407 655 4,062

Balance as at 30 June 2016 3,407 655 4,062

Administration expenses 3,272 135 3,407

Balance as at 30 June 2015 3,272 135 3,407

(e) Deferred tax liability

Opening balance
$’000

Charge to operating 
statement

$’000
Closing balance

$’000

Investment income 63,101 6,216 69,317

Pension adjustment (21,860) (2,518) (24,378)

Balance as at 30 June 2016 41,241 3,698 44,939

Investment income 36,120 26,981 63,101

Pension adjustment (14,229) (7,631) (21,860)

Balance as at 30 June 2015 21,891 19,350 41,241

5. Investments

Diversified fixed interest investments

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Other diversified fixed interest 496,569 466,897

Mortgages 104,921 103,032

601,490 569,929

6. Other payables

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

Due within 12 months

Sundry creditors and accrued expenses 7,411 8,286

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

7. Contributions in advance
The Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005 require the Board to maintain separate accounts for various monies paid to RBF.  
In 1993, a contribution was received in advance which covered the expected liability of all current and former members of 
RBF who were previously employed by the Tasmanian Government Insurance Office (TGIO).

The closing balance at 30 June 2016 represents the future actuarial liability for former TGIO employees.

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

Opening balance 1 July 4,236 3,354

Additional provisions – interest 210 1,226

Amounts used (331) (344)

Closing balance 4,115 4,236
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8. Provisions

(a) General operating provision

The actual administration expenses of RBF are initially allocated to the Contributory Scheme. To recoup this outlay, for the  
RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme, an administration fee is charged to member accounts based on the member’s 
account balance. For the defined benefit sub-funds the costs are recouped from the investment assets held by the custodian. 

To recoup the investment management fee expenses of RBF for fees not paid directly by the investment manager, the unit 
price of RBF is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based upon an estimate of the investment management fee expenses 
and can vary between investment choices. 

To recoup the income tax expense of RBF, the unit price of RBF is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based upon an 
estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year are explained by:

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

Opening balance 20,439 17,886

Add amounts deducted from members 51,995 69,000

Less investment expenses paid from provision (2,691) (2,394)

Less administration expenses paid from provision (13,978) (15,338)

Less tax expenses paid from provision (31,384) (48,715)

Closing balance 24,381 20,439

The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration fee, investment management fee 
and income tax expense is disclosed as the general operating provision. This surplus is administered on the determination by 
the Board in accordance with the Trust Deed. The actual administration expenses, investment management fees and income 
tax expense of the Contributory Scheme are allocated to the operating statement and as such the Contributory Scheme does 
not hold a general operating provision balance.

The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Administration 5,224 3,965

Investment management 2,925 3,048

Income tax 16,232 13,426

Closing balance 24,381 20,439

(b) Provision for death and incapacity insurance

The RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme provides death and disability benefits to members. Premiums are deducted from 
members’ accounts each fortnight. 

Prior to 18 January 2012, the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme was a self-insurer and provided for any liability for 
benefits through the death and disability provision account. Post 18 January 2012, the insurance of the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme was outsourced to CommInsure. 

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Opening balance 3,100 4,854

Add premiums deducted from members 13,255 9,742

Less benefits paid from provision – pre CommInsure (1,104) (704)

Less premiums paid to CommInsure (11,817) (10,485)

Less administration fee paid from provision (273) (307)

Closing balance 3,161 3,100

On the basis of the most recent actuarial review at 30 June 2015, the remaining balance of the provision was adequate to 
meet claims.
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(c) Provision for the Board employee entitlements

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

Provision for long service leave 1,324 1,188

Provision for annual leave 659 645

Provision for superannuation (note 25) 23,225 18,690

25,208 20,523

Opening balance 1 July 20,523 19,158

Additional provisions 5,933 3,199

Amounts used/adjusted (1,248) (1,834)

Closing balance 25,208 20,523

The number of employees at year end was 90 93

9. Reserves for the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

Opening balance 13,046 12,909

Less amounts incurred from capital initiatives from operating statement – (104)

Add interest income incurred on reserve balance 261 313

Less amounts incurred from member adjustments from operating statement (10) (72)

Closing balance 13,297 13,046

Movements in the general operating provision and reserves that relate to other revenue (see note 17) were:

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

Amounts incurred from capital initiatives – (104)

Interest income incurred from reserve balance 261 313

Amounts incurred from member adjustments (10) (72)

251 137

The balance of the reserves is made up of the following components:

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Operating risk 8,996 8,827

Strategic development 4,301 4,219

Closing balance 13,297 13,046

The operating risk reserve is designed to cover the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people  
and systems or from external events that are relevant for the operations of the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme. 

The strategic development reserve is designed to fund initiatives to ensure that the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme  
is able to continually develop in line with the needs of members. 
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10. Liability for accrued benefits for the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 
Changes in liability for accrued benefits:

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Liability for accrued benefits at the beginning of the year 3,441,366 3,102,573

Plus benefits accrued after income tax 424,796 621,399

Plus movement in reserves (note 9) (251) (137)

Less benefits paid (263,897) (282,469)

Liability for accrued benefits at end of the year 3,602,014 3,441,366

Consists of: 
2016 

$’000
2015 

$’000

RBF Superannuation Guarantee and RBF Investment Account members 2,998,655 2,896,114

RBF Account Based Pension and RBF Term Allocated Pension members 603,359 545,252

Liability for accrued benefits at the end of the year 3,602,014 3,441,366

No guarantees have been made in respect of any part of the liability for accrued benefits of the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation 
Scheme account.

11. Vested benefits for the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 
Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation 
Scheme (or any factor other than resignation from the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme) and include benefits which 
members were entitled to receive had they terminated their membership as at reporting date. 

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

RBF Investment Account and RBF Superannuation Guarantee members 2,986,538 2,888,669

RBF Account Based Pension and RBF Term Allocated Pension members 612,388 552,812

Vested benefits as at 30 June 3,598,926 3,441,481

No guarantees have been made in respect of any part of the liability for accrued benefits of the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme.

12. Total accrued and vested benefits for the defined benefit sub-funds
RBF includes 5 (2015: 5) defined benefit sub-funds. The liability for accrued benefits represents RBFs present obligation to 
pay benefits to members and beneficiaries and has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future 
payments which arise from the membership of the respective sub-funds up to the reporting date. 

The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, 
risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions. The accrued benefits were last valued at 30 June 2016 and 
that measurement has been disclosed.

Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the respective sub-fund (or any factor 
other than resignation from the sub-fund) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated 
their membership as at the reporting date.

In accordance with policy note 2(h) these accrued benefits are not recognised in these financial statements.
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The unfunded liability is reflected in the difference between the net assets available to pay benefits and the amount of 
accrued benefits as at the reporting date. 

2016

Sub-fund

Effective date 
of last actuarial 

review

Net assets for 
defined benefit 

members at 
valuation date

$’000

Actuarial value of 
accrued benefits 

for defined benefit 
members at 

valuation date

$’000

Vested benefits 
for defined benefit 

members at 
valuation date

$’000

Unfunded liability/
(surplus)

$’000

Contributory Scheme 30/06/2016 1,780,248 6,395,832 6,727,089 4,615,584

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 30/06/2016 4,116 14,442 14,442 10,326

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 30/06/2016 3,280 2,752 2,981 (528)

State Fire Commission 
Superannuation Scheme

30/06/2015 26,291 23,705 23,770 (2,586)

Tasmanian Ambulance Service 
Superannuation Scheme

30/06/2015 51,906 43,291 47,787 (8,615)

Total 1,865,841 6,480,022 6,816,069 4,614,181

2015

Sub-fund

Effective date 
of last actuarial 

review

Net assets for 
defined benefit 

members at 
valuation date

$’000

Actuarial value of 
accrued benefits 

for defined benefit 
members at 

valuation date

$’000

Vested benefits 
for defined benefit 

members at 
valuation date

$’000

Unfunded liability/
(surplus)

$’000

Contributory Scheme 30/06/2015 1,766,260 6,225,596 6,578,746 4,459,336

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 30/06/2015 4,563 14,661 14,661 10,098

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 30/06/2015 3,801 3,277 3,746 (524)

State Fire Commission 
Superannuation Scheme

30/06/2012 25,470 19,314 19,123 (6,156)

Tasmanian Ambulance Service 
Superannuation Scheme

30/06/2012 50,848 40,970 39,601 (9,878)

Total 1,850,942 6,303,818 6,655,877 4,452,876

13. Guaranteed benefits
The vested benefits referred to in note 12 are guaranteed under the following regulations:

•• Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005 by the Treasurer;

•• Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) Regulations 2012 by the Treasurer;

•• by the Minister administering the Fire Service Act 1979 under Section 8 of the Retirement Benefits (State Fire Commission 
Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005; and

•• by the Minister administering the Ambulance Services Act 1982 under Section 8 of the Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian 
Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2006.
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14. Funding arrangements

(a) Defined benefit sub-funds

Employer obligations to the Contributory Scheme are unfunded, being financed on an ‘emerging cost’ basis. Employee 
contributions, which are fully funded by the members and vest fully in them, are made at a specified rate of salary. The State 
Actuary recommended, following the most recent actuarial triennial review (as at 30 June 2013), that the level of employer 
support be increased in accordance with the following table for all new benefits paid from 1 July 2015. The recommended 
contribution program is expected to ensure that the Contributory Scheme will have sufficient assets to meet its obligations 
over the lifetime of the Contributory Scheme.

Effective date
Employer contribution rate  

(% of basic benefits)
Estimate annual employer contributions 

($’000)

1 July 2014 78.5% 264,000

1 July 2015 80.5% 284,000

1 July 2016 82.5% 299,000

1 July 2017 84.5% 314,000

1 July 2018 86.5% 335,000

1 July 2019 88.5% 358,000

Employer obligations to the Parliamentary Superannuation Fund are unfunded, being financed on an ‘emerging cost’ basis. 
Employee contributions, which are fully funded by the members and vest fully in them, are made at a specified rate of salary. 
The State Actuary recommended, following the last actuarial triennial review (as at 30 June 2013), that the Minister continues 
to contribute at the rate of 73% of pension benefits. 

The Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund is lump sum based, with any entitlement not being able to be converted to or 
paid in the form of a pension, other than an RBF Account Based Pension. The State Actuary recommended, following the 
last actuarial triennial review (as at 30 June 2013), that the Minister continues to contribute 2.6 times member contributions. 
The Minister, on advice from the State Actuary, made an additional contribution prior to 30 June 2014 which resulted in the 
Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund being fully funded as at 30 June 2016.

The State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme was fully funded for accrued benefits at the time of the last actuarial 
triennial review at 30 June 2015. It was recommended in the review that employer contributions be maintained at 11% of 
salaries plus any deemed member contributions. 

The Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme was fully funded for accrued benefits at the time of the last 
actuarial triennial review as at 30 June 2015. It was recommended in the review that employer contributions be maintained  
at 11.9% of salaries plus any deemed member contributions. 

(b) Defined contribution sub-fund

On 25 April 2000, the initial account balances of the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme, being the account balances 
of the Non-Contributory Scheme as at that date, were funded using surplus assets from within the Contributory Scheme, 
adjusted to take account of the income taxation differences between the two sub-funds.

During 2015–16, employers contributed to the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme at the rate of 9.5% (2014–15: 9.5%) 
of the gross salaries of those employees who were members of the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme. RBF Account 
Based Pensions, RBF Transition to Retirement Account Based Pensions and RBF Term Allocated Pensions are fully funded 
by members. 
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15. Investment revenue

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Asset class dissection

Australian equities 52,408 47,191

International equities 54,629 70,542

Diversified fixed interest 23,096 33,898

Property 31,544 28,397

Alternative investments 54,422 58,736

Cash deposits 23,036 25,976

239,135 264,740

Income type dissection

Interest 48,724 48,559

Dividends 54,987 49,939

Distributions 131,651 162,902

Property rentals 3,773 3,340

239,135 264,740

16. Movements in net market value of investments

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Investments held at the end of the financial year 

Australian equities (58,074) (4,895)

International equities (19,001) 122,016

Diversified fixed interest 23,343 (1,802)

Property 41,310 19,471

Alternative investments 53,928 50,414

Cash (35) 63

Total unrealised gains/(losses) 41,471 185,267

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian equities (5,450) 8,683

International equities (19,851) (19,951)

Diversified fixed interest (10,256) 3,155

Property 5,760 16,770

Alternative investments (15,532) (390)

Cash (16) –

Total realised gains/(losses) (45,345) 8,267

Total change in net market value of investments (3,874) 193,534

17. Other revenue/(expense)

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Profit/(loss) on internal use assets 1 4

General operating provision and reserves (see note 9) 251 137

Cost recoveries 20 20

Family law fees 14 14

286 175
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18. Administration fees paid to the Board

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Administration fee paid to the Board 25,316 26,929

Fund expenses 1,617 1,278

AASB 119 superannuation expense/(income) 4,878 2,082

RBF capital initiatives – 69

Recoveries from sub-funds (14,251) (15,572)

General operating fee – administration component 14,201 14,495

31,761 29,281

The administration fee paid to the Board is to reimburse the actual costs incurred in administering RBF. The costs incurred by 
the Board are monitored against an approved budget throughout the financial year. The major costs incurred are detailed below.

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Salary and related payments 11,376 12,063

Outsource provider 10,878 11,310

Information systems 1,543 1,569

Other 1,519 1,987

25,316 26,929

AASB 119: Employee Benefits requires a provision for future liabilities in relation to RBF’s current and past employees who 
maintain a membership in the Contributory Scheme and liabilities for current employees in respect of annual leave and long 
service leave. The increase in the AASB 119: Employee Benefits liability from 2014–15 to 2015–16 is shown as an expense in 
the above table. The increase in the liability is primarily due to a decrease in the discount rate used in the principal actuarial 
assumptions (see note 25). 

The discount rate used is the government bond rate as prescribed by AASB119: Employee Benefits.

The decrease in RBF capital initiatives item is due to no new Board approved business transformation costs as a result  
of the Strategic Review (note 26). The 2014–15 RBF capital initiatives item relates solely to initiatives approved in previous 
financial years. 

The recoveries from sub-funds paid to the Contributory Scheme are to reimburse the actual costs incurred in administering 
the sub-funds. 

19. Auditor’s remuneration

External 
2016

$’000
2015

$’000

Amounts paid or payable to the Tasmanian Audit Office – Audit of financial statements 215 210

Internal
2016

$’000
2015

$’000

Amounts paid or payable to KPMG Australia – Various internal audit projects 187 171

20. Insurance
The Contributory Scheme provides death and disability benefits to members. The Contributory Scheme is a self-insurer  
and provision for any liability is taken into account in the actuarial assessment of the accrued benefits at the time of  
actuarial valuation.

The RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme provides death and disability benefits to members through CommInsure as 
detailed in note 8(b).

The Parliamentary Superannuation Fund no longer provides death and disability benefits as all members have reached 
preservation age. 
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The Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. The Board has taken out 
insurance to cover the part of the benefit in excess of the vested benefit. 

The State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme provides death and disability benefits to members. The Board has taken 
out insurance to cover the part of the benefit in excess of the accrued benefit.

The Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme provides death and disability benefits to members. The Board 
has taken out insurance to cover the part of the benefit in excess of the vested benefit.

21. Operating commitments
(a) The Board participates in non-cancellable leasing arrangements for motor vehicles it uses. 

Under these arrangements the Board:

•• is not required to purchase the motor vehicles at the end of the lease period;

•• the lessee is LeasePlan Australia and the lessor is the Tasmanian Department of Treasury and Finance, with the Board 
being the sub lessor of the motor vehicles; and

•• there are no restrictions imposed by the lease arrangements.

(b) The Board currently leases two office spaces. 

Under these arrangements the Board:

•• holds a 10 year lease for Ground Floor 21 Kirksway Place, Hobart; and 

•• holds a 5 year lease for Ground Floor 113–115 Cimitiere Street, Launceston.

(c) The total amount of lease expense recognised in the financial year was: 

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Lease expense recognised 751 741

(d) The minimum lease payments under the lease are:

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

not later than one year 719 769

later than one year and not later than five years 2,533 2,630

later than five years 581 1,224

3,833 4,623

(e) There are no contingent leases.

(f)   The Board has a Superannuation Administration Services Agreement with Mercer (Australia) Pty Ltd. The term of the 
agreement is until 31 March 2017 and the fee for service is based on a per member per fund schedule.

(g) The Board has a global custody agreement with JP Morgan. This contract is ongoing.
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22. The Board and key management personnel compensation
The names and positions held by the Board and key management personnel in office at any time during the financial year:

Board/key management person Position

B Scullin President of the Board (resigned and appointed to Tasplan Board 19/07/2016 refer note 26)

D Challen AM Deputy President of the Board (appointed President of the Board 08/08/2016)

N Ellis Board member (resigned and appointed to Tasplan Board 19/07/2016 refer note 26)

L Jones Board member 

J Mazengarb Board member (resigned and appointed to Tasplan Board 19/07/2016 refer note 26)

R Burton Board member (resigned and appointed to Tasplan Board 19/07/2016 refer note 26)

E Thomas Board member (term ended 03/09/2015)

L Mackey Board member (commenced 12/10/2015)

A Voss Board member (commenced 09/08/2016)

P Mussared Chief Executive Officer 

N Connor Chief Operations Officer 

I Lundy Chief Investments Officer 

N Lyons Acting Chief Financial Officer (leave from 14/08/2015 and recommenced 01/08/2016)

M Leis Acting Chief Financial Officer (commenced 17/08/2015 to 01/04/2016)

I Marin Acting Chief Financial Officer (commenced 04/04/2016 to 29/07/2016)

K Welch Acting General Manager – Corporate Support 

S Harvey Manager Portfolio Management (commenced 14/07/2015 leave from 01/04/2016)

M Leis Acting Manager Portfolio Management (commenced 04/04/2016)

R Judd Manager People and Performance

The compensation received by the members of the Board and key management personnel of RBF:

Compensation
2016

$’000
2015

$’000

Short term employee benefits 1,983 1,822

Post-employment benefits 189 196

Termination benefits – 77

Accrued benefits (6) (23)

2,166 2,072

23. Related party transactions
A number of key management persons, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in them having control 
or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities. A number of these entities transacted with 
the Board in the reporting period. In addition, a number of key management persons, or their related parties, transacted with 
the Board in the reporting period as a member of RBF. The terms and conditions of the transactions with key management 
personnel and their related parties were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to 
be available, on similar transactions to non-key management personnel. 

24. Financial instruments
RBF’s assets principally consist of financial instruments which comprise Australian equities, international equities, diversified 
fixed interest, property, infrastructure, absolute returns, alternative debt and cash.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of RBF’s risk management framework. The risk 
management framework is documented in RBF’s risk management strategy.

The Board’s Risk and Audit Committee oversees RBF’s risk management strategy and is assisted in its oversight role by 
Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and additional projects that consider key processes and controls in 
place to manage the Board’s key risk areas, which are reported to the Risk and Audit Committee.



9. Financial statements   •   74RBF Annual Report 2015-16

The Board has engaged JANA Investment Advisers Pty Ltd (JANA) as an independent asset consultant to work with the 
internal investment team to advise on the allocation of assets between the various types of investments described above and 
the investment strategy of RBF. This includes the allocation of investments to fund managers, evaluating their performance 
and providing recommendations to the Board which has ultimate responsibility for the appointment of fund managers.  
JANA, along with RBF managers, provides regular quarterly reports in relation to performance.

RBF’s investment activities and use of financial investments expose it to market, currency, interest rate, credit and liquidity 
risk. RBF’s exposure to and its objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing each of these risks is set  
out in this appendix.

RBF’s investments are managed:

•• internally – Tasmanian property and first mortgage loans on Tasmanian property, cash assets managed across a range  
of financial institutions (approximately 15% of RBF as at 30 June 2016 (11% in 2015)); and

•• externally – all other investments.

External investments may be either an investment through a pooled trust, or an investment mandate with a fund manager 
with assets held by RBF’s custodian. All fund managers are required to invest in accordance with an agreed investment 
mandate containing guidelines that outline how the investment is to be managed (including how to manage exposures  
and risks), measured and reported.

The Board also receives monthly reports from internal management with respect to the performance and compliance  
of fund managers, the Board’s investments and the performance of RBF as a whole.

The internal investment team ensures that appropriate due diligence is carried out on managers before their appointment 
and that rigorous monitoring of their performance and compliance continues thereafter.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. Market risk includes: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, whilst optimising the return  
on risk.

To manage market risk, the Board ensures that due diligence of fund managers is completed prior to their appointment, 
conducts investment performance and benchmarking and continually monitors market conditions. JANA assists in this 
analysis and advises the Board in respect of the overall market risk of each of the various portfolios of RBF.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign currency exchange rates.

RBF is exposed to currency risk on financial instruments that are denominated in a currency other than the Australian Dollar. 
As at 30 June 2016, RBF held 8 investments (2015: 6) which were primarily denominated in foreign currency. 

Consequently, RBF is exposed to risks that the exchange rate may change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the 
value of that portion of RBF’s investments denominated in currencies other than the Australian Dollar.

The Board may invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions denominated in currencies other than the Australian 
Dollar within the constraints of the investment strategy. The Board’s strategy for management of currency risk is driven by its 
investment objective and strategy. 



9. Financial statements   •   75RBF Annual Report 2015-16

The Board sets the level of exposure to foreign currencies for each investment strategy of RBF. RBF’s currency risk is managed 
through the currency hedge arrangements for each foreign domiciled investment. International assets held through pooled 
trusts are hedged within the trust. RBF directly hedges currency exposures that are not managed by an external investment 
vehicle. For 2016, the currency risk directly managed by RBF consists of three parts: 

•• RBF hedges 100% (2015: 100%) of its foreign currency exposure in structured credit denominated in foreign currency held 
within the alternative debt asset class.

•• RBF hedges 100% (2015 not applicable) of its foreign currency exposure in absolute return denominated in foreign currency.

•• RBF hedges 30% (2015: 30%) of the foreign currency exposure of the international equities investment class, effectively 
managing the risk back to 70% (2015: 70%) of international equity.

As at 30 June 2016, the exposure was approximately 15% (2015: 16%) of the investment assets of the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme and 13% (2015: 14%) of the investment assets of the defined benefit sub-funds. This direct hedging 
program is conducted by a specialist currency manager.

Specific instruments

Investment managers may use derivatives where the Board deems this appropriate and where it is documented in the 
investment mandate with individual managers. The investment managers provide the Board with detailed risk management 
statements which outline their approach to derivatives and confirm their approach is applicable to the investments  
they manage.

The Board monitors investment managers to confirm that the use of derivatives accords with the overall investment strategy 
of RBF and is consistent with the performance objectives of each portfolio and sub-fund.

The Board may, when it deems it appropriate, use its custodian to enter into forward exchange contracts to reduce or  
remove any foreign currency exposures which are not already hedged by its international investment managers or the 
currency hedging manager.

RBF’s total net exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates at the balance date was as follows:

2016 Net market value

 USD  
A$’000 

 JPY  
A$’000 

 EUR  
A$’000 

 GBP  
A$’000 

 Other  
A$’000 

 Total  
A$’000 

Net exposure 854,557 51,474 75,769 63,550 158,870 1,204,220

2015 Net market value

 
 USD  

A$’000 
 JPY  

A$’000 
 EUR  

A$’000 
 GBP  

A$’000 
 Other  

A$’000 
 Total  

A$’000 

Net exposure 618,868 42,135 97,777 66,744 144,794 970,318

Sensitivity analysis – currency

The majority of RBF’s unhedged currency exposure is contained within the international equities asset class.  
Currency exposures held in other asset classes are hedged either by investment managers or by the specialist  
currency hedging manager. 

Currency risk (or foreign currency exchange risk) arises on financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign currency, 
that is, in a currency other than the functional currency in which they are measured. Currency risk does not arise from 
financial instruments that are non-monetary items or from financial instruments denominated in the functional currency. 
Examples of monetary items are cash, receivables and bonds (fixed amounts). Everything else is therefore non-monetary.
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In consultation with JANA, the Board has made a judgement that a 12% weighted average movement in the Australian Dollar 
is considered reasonably possible for the 2016–17 reporting period. The approach adopted to determine the volatility factor  
is based on the historical average movement in the annual absolute returns of the market benchmark for international 
equities. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates and other market prices, remain constant. 
The analysis was performed on the same basis for 2015 and is one possible scenario but is not certain to occur.

A 12% strengthening/weakening of the Australian Dollar against the relevant foreign currencies at 30 June would have 
decreased/increased the change for the year in net assets to pay benefits or the benefits accrued as a result of operations 
and net assets available to pay benefits by the amounts shown below:

Monetary financial 
instruments denominated 

in a foreign currency Impact on net assets available to pay benefits 

30 June 2016 A$’000
–12% 

A$’000
+12% 

A$’000

USD 392,884 47,146 (47,146)

JPY 61,508 7,381 (7,381)

EUR 79,616 9,554 (9,554)

GBP 36,197 4,344 (4,344)

Other (107,253) (12,870) 12,870

Total 462,952 55,555 (55,555)

30 June 2015 A$’000
–12% 

A$’000
+12% 

A$’000

USD 236,559 28,387 (28,387)

JPY 50,367 6,044 (6,044)

EUR 84,241 10,109 (10,109)

GBP 45,318 5,438 (5,438)

Other (72,534) (8,704) 8,704

Total 343,951 41,274 (41,274)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.

RBF’s financial instruments directly exposed to interest rate risk are cash and cash equivalents, term deposits, fixed interest 
securities and discount securities.

RBF’s exposure to cash, cash equivalents, fixed interest securities and discount securities is measured against the target 
asset allocations on a weekly basis. Cash assets are managed internally across a range of financial institutions and by 
Perennial Investment Partners Limited (Perennial), or held on deposit with Westpac Banking Corporation Limited (Westpac). 
The adequacy of internally managed cash, Perennial and Westpac is formally reviewed by the Board on an annual basis.  
Any change in a banking institution requires the approval of the Board.

Interest rate profile

RBF holds investments in both domestic and offshore bond markets.

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of RBF’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 906,198 982,212

Deposits held with brokers 269 265

Fixed interest 1,166,230 384,049

Discount securities 15,742 35,666

2,088,439 1,402,192
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Sensitivity analysis – interest rates

In consultation with JANA, the Board has made a judgement that an 80 basis points movement in interest rates is considered 
reasonably possible for the 2016–17 reporting period. The approach adopted to determine the volatility factor is based on 
the historical average movement in the annual absolute returns of benchmark 10-year Australian and US Government bonds. 
US Government bonds were used as proxy for offshore bond markets. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular foreign currency and other market prices, remains constant. The analysis was performed on the same basis for 
2015 and is one possible scenario but is not certain to occur.

An increase/decrease of 80 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/decreased the change 
for the year in net assets to pay benefits or the benefits accrued as a result of operations and net assets available to pay 
benefits by the amounts shown below. Note that a change in interest rates also impacts the liabilities of RBF but this is not 
detailed here.

Impact on net assets available to pay benefits 

30 June 2016
Carrying amount  

$’000
–80 basis points  

$’000
+80 basis points  

$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 906,198 (7,250) 7,250

Deposits held with brokers 269 (2) 2

Fixed interest 1,166,230 (9,330) 9,330

Discount securities 15,742 (126) 126

Total 2,088,439 (16,708) 16,708

30 June 2015 $’000
–80 basis points  

$’000
+80 basis points 

$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 982,212 (7,858) 7,858

Deposits held with brokers 265 (2) 2

Fixed interest 384,049 (3,072) 3,072

Discount securities 35,666 (285) 285

Total 1,402,192 (11,217) 11,217

Other market price risk

Other market price risk is the risk that the market view of the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes 
are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial 
instruments traded in the market.

All of RBF’s financial instruments are carried at net market value with changes recognised in the operating statement. 
Accordingly, all changes in market conditions affecting net market value will be recognised in the operating statement. 
Investments of RBF (other than cash held for liquidity purposes) comprise listed equities, unlisted equities, bonds, corporate 
debt, foreign exchange contracts, options and futures, direct properties and other investments. RBF’s exposure to other 
market price risk is therefore limited to the market price movement of these investments. The Board has determined that 
these investments are appropriate for RBF and are in accordance with RBF’s investment strategy in respect of asset class 
allocation. RBF’s exposure at year-end to other market price risk is detailed below. 

In accordance with agreed investment mandates, some of RBF’s external investment managers have invested in a variety  
of financial instruments, including derivatives, which could expose RBF’s investments to a variety of other market price risks. 
Other market price risk arising on investments is mitigated by the due diligence and research undertaken by the investment 
manager prior to purchasing or selling equities on behalf of RBF. Further, the Board monitors the value of all equity 
investments on a weekly basis through appropriate reporting from the custodian and investment managers.

Other market price risk is mitigated by constructing a diversified portfolio of instruments which are traded on various  
markets. All investment managers are subject to due diligence prior to being appointed, with the recommendation for  
their appointment and removal made by management to the Board for final approval. 

The Investment team monitors RBF’s investment value on a weekly basis and receives monthly reports from all investment 
managers which detail performance against relevant benchmarks and objectives. The Investment team reports investment 
performance to the Board on a monthly basis. Each quarter, JANA provides the Board with a consolidated report on the 
performance of all RBF’s investment managers against relative benchmarks and objectives including advice regarding  
the management of RBF’s investment portfolio in accordance with the current investment strategy.
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Sensitivity analysis – other market price risk

In consultation with JANA, the Board has acknowledged that the following movements in other market price risk are 
reasonably possible for the 2016–17 reporting period:

Market risk
Volatility 

factor Rationale

Australian equities 19%
Average absolute annual returns of the Standard and Poor’s/Australian Securities Exchange 300  
Accumulation Index

International equities 21% Average absolute annual returns of the Morgan Stanley Capital International World Index ex Australia

Direct property 11% Average absolute annual returns of the Mercer Australia Unlisted Property Index

Infrastructure 10% Average absolute returns of the long-running infrastructure mandates

Long/Short equities 11% Average absolute annual returns of the Hedge Fund Research Indices Equity Hedge Index

Absolute return 8% Average absolute annual returns of the Hedge Fund Research Indices Funds of Funds Composite Index

Alternative Debt 12% Average absolute return of the Credit Suisse Leveraged Loan Index 

The increase/decrease in the market price against the investments of RBF at 30 June 2016 would have increased/decreased 
the net assets available to pay benefits or the benefits accrued as a result of operations and net assets available to pay 
benefits by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates and foreign 
currency, remain constant. The analysis was performed on the same basis for 2015 and is one possible scenario but is not 
certain to occur.

Volatility
Impact on results on financial position and impact on

net assets available to pay benefits

30 June 2016 % –$’000 +$’000

Australian equities 19% (187,426) 187,426

International equities 21% (233,521) 233,521

Direct property 11% (66,617) 66,617

Infrastructure 10% (57,878) 57,878

Total (545,442) 545,442

30 June 2015 % –$’000 +$’000

Australian equities 19% (255,289) 255,289

International equities 21% (259,769) 259,769

Direct property 11% (59,289) 59,289

Infrastructure 10% (14,529) 14,529

Total (588,876) 588,876

The following table summarises the aggregate notional principal of the futures and options contracts at 30 June 2016 and 2015.

Type of contract
2016 

A$’000
2015 

A$’000

Buy

Futures 2,976 2,294

Forward currency contracts 1,111,886 858,913

Total buys 1,114,862 861,207

Sell

Forward currency contracts – –

Total sells – –
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Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation. RBF’s financial instruments being directly exposed to credit risk include cash and cash equivalents, 
mortgage receivables and other receivables.

The Board’s internal procedure in respect to mortgage receivables is in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored  
on an ongoing basis by the Direct Investments Unit. The internal procedure provides the appropriate guidelines as to:

•• the approval of secured commercial mortgage loans and construction finance loans;

•• reporting to the Board; and

•• actions taken on a mortgagor’s file.

RBF does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under financial instruments 
entered into.

No financial assets are considered past due as all payments are considered recoverable when contractually due. 

The carrying amount of those financial assets exposed to credit risk as at 30 June are as follows:

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 906,198 982,212

Mortgage receivables 104,922 103,032

Other receivables 2,014 5,398

Investments receivables 1,077 1,073

1,014,211 1,091,715

As previously noted, RBF’s cash is held with Westpac, Perennial, or internally managed across a range of financial institutions. 
Bankruptcy or insolvency by the range of financial institutions holding internally managed cash may cause RBF’s rights,  
with respect to the cash held, to be delayed or limited. RBF monitors its credit risk by monitoring the credit quality and 
financial position of the cash manager through research conducted and advice given by JANA.

The Board appoints specialist fund managers to manage the assets and risk associated with the funds allocated to that 
manager. For fixed interest investments credit risk is mitigated by the due diligence and research undertaken by JANA and 
the Investment team prior to the Board’s appointment of the respective fund manager. In addition, each fund manager uses 
their specialist skills and research to evaluate the credit risk prior to purchasing or selling equities on behalf of RBF. 

Further, JANA provides a quarterly update to the Board on the investment performance and operational issues of each fund 
manager, which includes credit risk related areas where relevant.

Credit risk associated with contributions receivable and other receivables is considered low as there is usually a short settlement 
period due to the receivables relating to timing differences in respect of the receipt of contributions from the employer sponsor. 
The employer sponsor comprises the Tasmanian State Government agencies and businesses. The Board monitors the ageing 
of the contributions and receivables outstanding on a regular basis.

Approximately 97% (2015: 97%) of RBF’s investments are held by RBF’s custodian JP Morgan Worldwide Securities Services. 
Bankruptcy or insolvency of the custodian may cause RBF’s rights with respect to securities held by the custodian to be 
delayed or limited. Management monitors its risk through research and advice from JANA regarding the credit quality and 
financial position of the custodian.

Impairment losses

The ageing of RBF’s mortgage receivables at the reporting date was:

Gross 
2016 

$’000

Impairment 
2016 

$’000

Gross 
2015 

$’000

Impairment 
2015 

$’000

Not past due 104,922 – 103,032 –

Past due 0–30 days – – – –

Past due 31–120 days – – – –

Past due 121 days to one year – – – –

More than one year – – – –

104,922 – 103,032 –
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that RBF will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Board’s approach 
to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that there exists an immediate cash resource available to meet 
projected liabilities as well as having sufficient liquid assets to meet requirements in excess of projections without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to RBF’s reputation.

The Board’s liquidity requirements are managed on a daily basis by the Finance team by reference to a projected cash flow report. 

RBF’s financial instruments include investments in unlisted investments which are not traded in an organised public market 
and which generally may be illiquid. As a result, RBF may not be able to liquidate quickly some of its investments in these 
instruments at an amount close to the fair value in order to meet liquidity requirements. The amount of these investments, 
which is typically represented by certain asset classes, is monitored to comply with the asset allocation stipulated in the 
Board’s investment strategy. As RBF’s investment strategy is determined with consideration to liquidity issues and the  
Board monitors RBF’s compliance with the investment strategy, liquidity risk is considered minimal.

RBF’s listed securities are considered to be readily realisable as they are listed on recognised stock exchanges.

RBF’s overall liquidity risks are monitored on a monthly basis by the Board. The liquidity of RBF is stress tested and reported 
to the Board twice per year.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding the impact of 
netting arrangements:

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Less than 1 month 1–3 months
Greater than  

3 months Total

30 June 2016 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other payables – 23,045 – 23,045

Contributions and pensions payable – – – –

Contributions in advance – – 4,115 4,115

Vested benefits – – 10,414,995 10,414,995

Total – 23,045 10,419,110 10,442,155

30 June 2015 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other payables – 13,035 – 13,035

Contributions and pensions payable – – – –

Contributions in advance – – 4,236 4,236

Vested benefits – – 10,097,358 10,097,358

Total – 13,035 10,101,594 10,114,629

Derivative financial liabilities

Less than 3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years Total

30 June 2016 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Buy

Futures 2,976 – – 2,976

Forward currency contracts 1,070,397 41,489 – 1,111,886

Total buys 1,073,373 41,489 – 1,114,862

Sell

Forward currency contracts – – – –

Total sells – – – –
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Derivative financial liabilities (continued) 

Less than 3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years Total

30 June 2015 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Buy

Futures 2,294 – – 2,294

Forward currency contracts 857,559 1,354 – 858,913

Total buys 859,853 1,354 – 861,207

Sell

Forward currency contracts – – – –

Total sells – – – –

Vested benefits have been included in the greater than three months column, as this is the amount that members could call 
upon as at year-end. This is the earliest date on which RBF can be required to pay member vested benefits. However, members 
may not necessarily call upon amounts vested to them during this time.

Estimation of fair values

RBF’s financial assets and liabilities included in the statements of net assets or statements of financial position are carried  
at net market value which the Board believes approximates net fair value.

The major methods and assumptions used in determining net market value of financial instruments have been disclosed  
in the significant accounting policies section. 

At 30 June 2016, the carrying amounts of investments for which fair values were determined directly, in full or in part,  
by reference to published price quotations amounted to $5,220,004,503 (2015: $5,109,868,306). 

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at net market value, which approximates fair value, by valuation 
method. The financial instruments detailed in the table below are based on the underlying investments within RBF’s 
investment managers, this classification is different to the allocation detailed on the statement of financial position.  
The different levels have been defined as follows:

•• Level 1 net market value measurements are those instruments valued based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•• Level 2 net market value measurements are those instruments valued based on inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

•• Level 3 net market value measurements are those instruments valued based on inputs for the asset or liability that are not 
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Estimation of fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

30 June 2016 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Equity securities  1,548,546 1,870,456 676 3,419,678

Fixed interest securities 92,500 1,120,408 104,922 1,317,830

Direct property – 48,824 – 48,824

Derivative assets 24 33,382 – 33,406

1,641,070 3,073,070 105,598 4,819,738

Derivative liabilities – 4,793 – 4,793

1,641,070 3,068,277 105,598 4,814,945
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Reconciliation of Level 3 net market value measurements of financial assets

Net market value
$’000

Opening balance 380,643

Total gains or losses in profit or loss 2,235

Sales/ income (24,571)

Purchases 1,113

Issues –

Loan application 12,446

Principal reductions (10,556)

Settlements –

Transfers out of Level 3 (255,712)

Transfers into Level 3 –

Closing balance 105,598

Total gain or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period 2,235

Gains or losses included in profit or loss for the period are presented in changes, in net changes, in fair value of investments as follows:

Net changes in net market values of investments –

Total gains or losses in profit or loss for the period 2,235

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the period 2,235

Estimation of fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

30 June 2015 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Equity securities 1,699,882 1,971,596 276,418 3,947,896

Fixed interest securities 133,357 368,200 104,225 605,782

Direct property – 44,542 – 44,542

Derivative assets 102 12,775 – 12,877

1,833,341 2,397,113 380,643 4,611,097

Derivative liabilities 34 27,549 – 27,583

1,833,307 2,369,564 380,643 4,583,514

Reconciliation of Level 3 net market value measurements of financial assets

Net market value 
$’000

Opening balance 604,184

Total gains or losses in profit or loss 5,717

Sales/income (178,801)

Purchases 33,143

Issues –

Loan application 2,200

Principal reductions (5,037)

Settlements –

Transfers out of Level 3 (328,768)

Transfers into Level 3 248,004

Closing balance 380,643

Total gain or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period 5,717

Gains or losses included in profit or loss for the period are presented in changes, in net changes, in fair value of investments as follows:

Net changes in net market values of investments –

Total gains or losses in profit or loss for the period 5,717

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the period 5,717
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The net fair value of listed investments have been valued at the quoted market price at balance date adjusted for transaction 
costs expected to be incurred. For other assets and other liabilities, the net fair value approximates their carrying value 
(reduced by estimated sale costs where relevant). 

The aggregate net fair values and carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in the statement  
of financial position and in the notes to the financial statements.

25. The Board’s employee entitlements and superannuation commitments 
Employees of the Board employed prior to 15 May 1999 were entitled to become members of the Contributory Scheme.  
The Contributory Scheme is a defined benefit fund which pays lump sum and pension benefits to members upon retirement 
(the majority of which are calculated as a multiple of the member’s final average salary). Employer contributions are funded 
on an emerging cost basis and have not been fully funded by the Board at balance date. An actuarial assessment of the  
net present value of the future cost has been raised as a liability in the statement of financial position (see note 8(c)).  
Below are set out details of the key assumptions and other disclosures as required by AASB 119 Employee Benefits.  
The figures include the liability for the Contributory Scheme members and pensioners as well as members (ex-employees) 
who hold a Contributory Scheme compulsory preservation account (CPA).

The 30 June 2016 disclosures required under AASB 119, shown in the tables within note 25, have been calculated using  
31 March 2016 actuals and actuarial assumptions. 

Nature of the benefits provided by the Contributory Scheme – para 139(a)(i)

Defined benefit members receive lump sum benefits on resignation and lump sum or pension benefits on retirement, death 
or invalidity. The defined benefit sub-funds of RBF are closed to new members. 

Description of the regulatory framework – para 139(a)(ii)

The Contributory Scheme operates under the Retirement Benefits Act 1993 and the Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005.

Although the Contributory Scheme is not formally subject to the Superannuation Industry Supervision (SIS) legislation,  
the Tasmanian Government has undertaken (in a Heads of Government Agreement) to operate the Contributory Scheme  
in accordance with the spirit of the SIS legislation.

As an exempt public sector superannuation scheme (as defined in the SIS legislation), the Contributory Scheme is not 
subject to any minimum funding requirements. 

RBF is a complying superannuation fund within the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 such that RBF’s 
taxable income is taxed at a concessional rate of 15%. However RBF is also a public sector superannuation scheme which 
means that employer contributions may not be subject to the 15% tax (if the Board elects) up to the amount of ‘untaxed’ 
benefits paid to members in the year. 

Description of other entities’ responsibilities for the governance of the Contributory Scheme – para 139(a)(iii)

The Board is responsible for the governance of the Contributory Scheme. As Trustee, the Board has a legal obligation to  
act in the best interests of the Contributory Scheme beneficiaries. The Board has the following roles: 

•• administration of the Contributory Scheme and payment to the beneficiaries when required in accordance with the 
Contributory Scheme rules; 

•• management and investment of the Contributory Scheme assets; and

•• compliance with the Heads of Government Agreement referred to above. 

Description of risks – para 139(b)

There are a number of risks to which the Contributory Scheme exposes RBF. The more significant risks relating to the  
defined benefits are: 

•• Investment risk – the risk that investment returns will be lower than assumed and employers will need to increase 
contributions to offset this shortfall.

•• Salary growth risk – the risk that wages or salaries (on which future benefit amounts will be based) will rise more rapidly 
than assumed, increasing defined benefit amounts and the associated employer contributions. 

•• Inflation risk – the risk that inflation is higher than anticipated, increasing pension payments and the associated  
employer contributions.
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•• Benefit options risk – the risk is that a greater proportion of members who joined prior to 1 July 1994 will elect the 
pension option, which is generally more costly than the alternative lump sum option.

•• Pensioner mortality risk – the risk is that pensioner mortality will be lighter than expected, resulting in pensions being 
paid for a longer period. 

•• Legislative risk – the risk is that legislative changes could be made which increase the cost of providing the  
defined benefits.

Description of significant events – para 139(c)

There were no sub-fund amendments, curtailments or settlements during the year.

Reconciliation of the net defined benefit liability/(asset) – para 140(a)

As at
2016

$’000
2015

$’000

Defined benefit obligation 27,386 22,961

(–) Fair value of sub-fund assets 4,161 4,271

Deficit/(surplus) 23,225 18,690

Net defined benefit liability/(asset) 23,225 18,690

Current net liability 525 866

Non-current net liability 22,700 17,824

Reconciliation of the fair value of Contributory Scheme assets – para 140(a)(i)

Financial year ending
2016

$’000
2015

$’000

Fair value of sub-fund assets at beginning of the year 4,271 4,014

(+) Interest income 153 159

(+) Actual return on sub-fund assets less Interest income (123) 450

(+) Estimated employer contributions 481 798

(+) Estimated contributions by sub-fund participants 46 54

(–) Estimated benefits paid 627 1,170

(–) Estimated taxes, premiums and expenses paid 40 34

Fair value of sub-fund assets at end of the year 4,161 4,271

Reconciliation of the defined benefit obligation – para 140(a)(ii)

Financial year ending
2016

$’000
2015

$’000

Present value of defined benefit obligations at beginning of the year 22,961 21,403

(+) Current service cost 203 213

(+) Interest cost 829 860

(+) Estimated contributions by sub-fund participants 46 54

(+) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 3,917 1,301

(+) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from liability experience 97 334

(–) Estimated benefits paid 627 1,170

(–) Estimated taxes, premiums and expenses paid 40 34

Present value of defined benefit obligations at end of the year 27,386 22,961
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Reconciliation of the effect of the asset ceiling – para 140(a)(iii)

The asset ceiling has no impact on the net defined benefit liability/(asset).

Fair value of Contributory Scheme assets – para 142

As at 30 June 2016^

Asset category
Total

$’000

Quoted prices in 
active markets for 
identical assets – 

Level 1
$’000

Significant 
observable inputs – 

Level 2 
$’000 

Unobservable 
inputs – Level 3 

$’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 722 722 – –

Equity instruments 2,839 1,293 1,246 300

Debt instruments 558 152 229 177

Derivatives 8 – 8 –

Real estate 34 – 34 –

Total 4,161 2,167 1,517 477

^Estimated based on assets allocated to RBF as at 30 June 2016 and asset allocation of the RBF as at 30 June 2015. 

Fair value of entities own financial instruments – para 143

The fair value of RBF’s assets includes no amounts relating to:

•• any of RBF’s own financial instruments; and

•• any property occupied by, or other assets used by RBF.

Assets are not held separately for each reporting entity but are held for RBF as a whole. The fair value of Contributory Scheme 
assets for each reporting entity was estimated by allocating the total RBF assets in proportion to the value of each reporting 
entity’s funded liabilities, calculated using the assumptions outlined in this report.

Significant actuarial assumptions at the reporting date – para 144

Financial year ending 30 June 2016 30 June 2015

Assumptions to determine defined benefit cost and start of year defined benefit obligation

Discount rate (active members) 3.70% pa 4.10% pa

Discount rate (pensioners) 3.70% pa 4.10% pa

Expected salary increase rate 3.00% pa 3.00% pa

Expected rate of increase of compulsory preserved amounts 4.50% pa 4.50% pa

Expected pension increase rate 2.50% pa 2.50% pa

Financial year ending 30 June 2016 30 June 2015

Assumptions to determine end of year defined benefit obligation

Discount rate (active members) 2.70% pa 3.70% pa

Discount rate (pensioners) 2.70% pa 3.70% pa

Expected salary increase rate 3.00% pa 3.00% pa

Expected rate of increase of compulsory preserved amounts 4.50% pa 4.50% pa

Expected pension increase rate 2.50% pa 2.50% pa
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Sensitivity analysis – para 145

The defined benefit obligation as at 30 June 2016 under several scenarios is presented below.

Scenarios A and B relate to discount rate sensitivity. Scenarios C and D relate to expected pension increase rate sensitivity. 

Scenario A: 1% pa lower discount rate assumption.

Scenario B: 1% pa higher discount rate assumption.

Scenario C: 1% pa lower expected pension increase rate assumption.

Scenario D: 1% pa higher expected pension increase rate assumption.

Base case Scenario A Scenario B Scenario C Scenario D

–1% pa  
discount rate

+1% pa  
discount rate

–1% pa pension 
increase rate

+1% pa pension  
increase rate

Discount rate 2.70% pa 1.70% pa 3.70% pa 2.70% pa 2.70% pa

Pension increase rate 2.50% pa 2.50% pa 2.50% pa 1.50% pa 3.50% pa

Defined benefit obligation (A$’000s) 27,386 32,359 23,469 24,360 31,045

The defined benefit obligation has been recalculated by changing the assumptions as outlined above, whilst retaining all 
other assumptions.

Asset-liability matching strategies – para 146

There are no asset and liability matching strategies adopted by RBF.

Funding arrangements – para 147(a)

The employer contributes a percentage of each lump sum or pension benefit payment. This percentage may be amended by 
the Minister on the advice of the Actuary.

Expected contributions – para 147(b)

Financial year ending
30 June 2017

$’000

Expected employer contributions 525

Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation – para 147(c)

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for RBF is 15.6 years.

26. Subsequent events
On 1 July 2016, RBF and Tasplan entered into a Successor Fund Transfer Deed to Successor Fund Transfer the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme to Tasplan. The Successor Fund Transfer date has been set as 31 March 2017. The Implementation  
Deed between Tasplan and RBF became unconditional on 18 July 2016 and four members of the Board resigned with effect  
19 July 2016 and were appointed to the Tasplan Board. 

In accordance with section 63 of the Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 2016, the Board will cease to exist after the 
Successor Fund Transfer date and fiduciary responsibility for the RBF defined benefits sub-funds will be transferred to the 
Superannuation Commission. The Commission is established by the Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 2016 and  
will be supported by an Office of the Superannuation Commission which will be established as a branch of the Department  
of Treasury and Finance. After 31 March 2017, preparation of final accounts and wind-up activities in respect of RBF will be 
the responsibility of the Superannuation Commission.

The Department of Treasury and Finance advertised two expressions of interest, which closed on 26 July 2016, for the 
provision of member administration services and investment management services for the RBF defined benefits sub-funds. 
It is envisaged that provision of member administration services and investment management services for the RBF defined 
benefits sub-funds will be assumed by successful proponents in the first half of 2017. The Superannuation Commission will 
be responsible for the management of the contracts for these services.
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27. Segment information 
RBF operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only. RBF operates from 
one reportable geographic segment being Australia, from where all activities are managed. Whilst RBF operates from Australia 
only; RBF has investment exposures in different countries and across different industries.

28. Contingent liabilities
As at 30 June 2016, there were a number of instances of litigation currently involving the Board. These applications are 
currently being defended but General Counsel is not able to predict the outcomes with any certainty. As a result, no liability 
has been recognised in the financial statements.

 29. Statement of cash flows

(a) Reconciliation of net cash from operations to benefits accrued as a result of operations after income tax

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Benefits accrued after income tax 758,527 1,027,583

Changes in net market value of investments 3,874 (193,534)

Benefits paid (582,729) (606,145)

Non-cash distributions (note 29(c)) (224,392) (249,536)

Change in operating assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in investment income receivable (4) 90

Increase in deferred tax asset (655) (135)

Decrease/(increase) in other receivable 220 (407)

Increase in RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd (1) (4)

Decrease/(increase) in contributions and pensions receivable 3,165 (3,722)

Decrease in plant, equipment and intangibles 27 39

Decrease in GST receivable 97 65

(Decrease)/increase in other payable (875) 583

Increase in provision for Board employee entitlements 4,685 1,365

Increase in general operating provisions 3,942 2,553

(Decrease)/increase in contributions in advance (121) 882

Increase/(decrease) in provision for death and incapacity insurance 61 (1,754)

(Decrease)/increase in provision for income tax (1,668) 3,910

Increase in deferred tax liability 3,698 19,350

Decrease in superannuation contributions surcharge payable (63) (331)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (32,212) 852

(b) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

Cash balances comprise

Cash at bank 118,278 92,250

(c) Non cash transactions

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Dividends 54,987 49,939

Interest 40,683 39,943

Distributions 128,722 159,654

224,392 249,536

The above income transactions were received and reinvested by acquiring additional investment units.
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Appendix A – continued
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Mercer Consulting (Australia) Pty Ltd
ABN 55 153 168 140
AFS Licence # 411770
Collins Square
727 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3008
GPO Box 9946 Melbourne VIC 3001
+61 3 9623 5555
esther.conway@mercer.com
www.mercer.com.au

Ms Ningning Lyons
Chief Financial Officer
Retirement Benefits Fund Board
21 Kirksway Place
Hobart Tasmania  7001

5 August 2016

Dear Ningning

AAS 25 Financial Reporting as at 30 June 2016

As requested, please find attached the Accrued Benefits and Vested Benefits information required
for accounting purposes under AAS 25.

Contributory Scheme, PSF and PRBF

The Vested Benefits must be updated each year, so the 2016 accounts need to show the Vested
Benefits as at 30 June 2016.

As we are calculating Vested Benefits at 30 June 2016 it is relatively straightforward to calculate
Accrued Benefits at the same date.  Therefore, for the Contributory Scheme, Parliamentary
Superannuation Fund (PSF) and Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund (PRBF) the 2016 Accrued
Benefits can be reported in this year’s accounts, with comparatives as at 30 June 2015.

Appendix A contains the information required under AAS 25 for the Contributory Scheme, PSF
and PRBF. The methodology and assumptions are shown in Appendix B and Appendix C.

TASSS and SFCSS

Accrued Benefits for the State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme (SFCSS) and for the
Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme (TASSS) were last calculated as at 30
June 2015.When the Accrued Benefits are updated, the accounts must show the benefits which
have accrued since the last measurement date, measured as the sum of the net change in
Accrued Benefits and any benefit payments between the updated measurement date and the last
measurement date.

Appendix B
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For the TASSS and SFCSS only the Accrued Benefit is shown in Appendix A.  The methodology
and assumptions are described in our triennial reports on the actuarial reviews as at 30 June
2015.

Yours sincerely

Esther Conway, FIAA
Principal

Appendix B – continued
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Appendix A: Information for the Financial Statements

Contributory Scheme
AAS 25 Accrued Benefits

The Accrued Benefits were valued at 30 June 2016 using the methodology outlined in Appendix B
and the assumptions outlined in Appendix C, including a discount rate of 7.5% per annum.

Based on these assumptions, the total Accrued Benefits for the Contributory Scheme (both funded
and unfunded components) as at 30 June 2016 for the purposes of AAS 25 was calculated to be
$6,396 million (net of contributions surcharge).  Of this amount $1,839 million has to be met from
the Scheme’s assets.

The weighted average term of the accrued liabilities (weighted according to discounted values) for
the Contributory Scheme was 12 years as at 30 June 2016.

Liabilities for Accrued Benefits 30/06/2016 30/06/2015
$'000 $'000

Liability for the Scheme as a whole  6,395,832      6,225,596
Liability to be funded from the Scheme assets  1,838,537      1,819,975

Liabilities for the Scheme as a whole 30/06/2016 30/06/2015
$'000 $'000

Contributory members      2,357,121      2,398,219
Pensioners      3,704,705      3,498,364
Compulsory Preserved Members         334,006         329,013
Total      6,395,832      6,225,596

Liability to be funded from the Scheme assets 30/06/2016 30/06/2015
$'000 $'000

Contributory members         532,585         580,400
Pensioners      1,302,303      1,235,525
Compulsory Preserved Members             3,649             4,050
Total      1,838,537      1,819,975

Appendix B – continued
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AAS 25 Vested Benefits as at 30 June 2016

The total value of Vested Benefits (funded and unfunded share) as at 30 June 2016 in respect of
current and former members together with the Vested Benefits as at 30 June 2015 are set out in
the table below.

The Vested Benefits at 30 June 2016 have been calculated using a discount rate of 7.5% per
annum.

Liabilities for Vested Benefits 30/06/2016 30/06/2015
$'000 $'000

Liability for the Scheme as a whole      6,727,089      6,578,746
Liability to be funded from the Scheme assets      1,917,705      1,909,930

Liabilities for the Scheme as a whole 30/06/2016 30/06/2015
$'000 $'000

Contributory members      2,623,406      2,686,831
Pensioners      3,704,705      3,498,364
Compulsory Preserved Members         398,978         393,551
Total      6,727,089      6,578,746

Liability to be funded from the Scheme assets 30/06/2016 30/06/2015
$'000 $'000

Contributory members         615,402         674,405
Pensioners      1,302,303      1,235,525
Compulsory Preserved Members                   -                   -
Total      1,917,705      1,909,930

Appendix B – continued
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Parliamentary Superannuation Fund
AAS 25 Accrued Benefits

The Accrued Benefits were valued at 30 June 2016 using the methodology outlined in Appendix B
and the assumptions outlined in Appendix C, including a discount rate of 8% per annum.

Based on these assumptions, the total Accrued Benefits (both funded and unfunded components)
as at 30 June 2016, for the purpose of AAS 25, was calculated to be $14.442 million.

The weighted average term of the liabilities (weighted according to discounted values) for the
Parliamentary Superannuation Fund was 9 years as at 30 June 2016.

Liabilities for Accrued Benefits 30/06/2016 30/06/2015
$'000 $'000

Pensioners 14,442 14,661
Total 14,442 14,661

AAS 25 Vested Benefits as at 30 June 2016

The total value of Vested Benefits as at 30 June 2016 in respect of current and former Members
of the Fund together with the Vested Benefits as at 30 June 2015 are set out in the table below.

The Vested Benefits at 30 June 2016 have been calculated using a discount rate of 8% per
annum.

Liabilities for Vested Benefits 30/06/2016 30/06/2015
$'000 $'000

Pensioners             14,442             14,661
Total             14,442             14,661

Appendix B – continued
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Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund
AAS 25 Accrued Benefits

The Accrued Benefits were valued at 30 June 2016 using the methodology outlined in Appendix B
and the assumptions outlined in Appendix C, including a discount rate of 7.0% per annum.

Based on these assumptions, the total Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 2016, for the purposes of
AAS 25, was calculated to be $2.752 million.

The weighted average term of the liabilities (weighted according to discounted values) for the
Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund was 4 years as at 30 June 2016.

Liabilities for Accrued Benefits 30/06/2016 30/06/2015
$'000 $'000

Contributory members 2,752 3,277

AAS 25 Vested Benefits as at 30 June 2016

The total value of Vested Benefits as at 30 June 2016 in respect of current Members of the Fund
is set out in the table below.

Liabilities for Vested Benefits 30/06/2016 30/06/2015
$'000 $'000

Contributory members 2,981 3,746

The Vested Benefits are not affected by the discount rate because they are not discounted.

Appendix B – continued
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State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme
AAS 25 Accrued Benefits

The Accrued Benefits were last valued at 30 June 2015 using the methodology outlined in the
actuarial investigation on the defined benefit liabilities of the State Fire Commission
Superannuation Scheme as at 30 June 2015, including a discount rate of 6% per annum.

Based on these assumptions, the total Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 2015, for the purposes of
AAS 25, was calculated to be $23.705 million.

The weighted average term of the liabilities (weighted according to discounted values) for the
Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme was 14 years as at 30 June 2015.

Liabilities for Accrued Benefits 30/06/2015
$'000

Total Accrued Benefits 23,705

Appendix B – continued
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Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme
AAS 25 Accrued Benefits

The Accrued Benefits were last valued at 30 June 2015 using the methodology outlined in the
actuarial investigation on the defined benefit liabilities of the Tasmanian Ambulance Service
Superannuation Scheme as at 30 June 2015, including a discount rate of 6% per annum.

Based on these assumptions, the total Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 2015, for the purposes of
AAS 25, was calculated to be $43.291 million.

The weighted average term of the liabilities (weighted according to discounted values) for the
Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme was 12 years as at 30 June 2015.

Liabilities for Accrued Benefits 30/06/20151

$'000
Total Accrued Benefits 43,291

1 This value differs from that shown in last year’s financial statements due to the use of updated data and assumptions

Appendix B – continued
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Appendix B: Summary of valuation methodology
Methodology for Accrued Benefits

The accrued benefit liability represents the present value of all future benefits payable to the
extent that they relate to service completed prior to the valuation date.

The valuation of the accrued benefit liability has a number of stages as follows:

Stage 1
Economic and demographic assumptions are made about the future.

Stage 2
Using these assumptions, the value of all future benefits payable from each scheme is
calculated year by year until the last of the members as at the valuation date leaves the
scheme.

Stage 3
Each future benefit payable is apportioned between the funded and unfunded components
(where relevant) and between past and future service.  That part which relates to past
service (i.e. prior to the valuation date) is known as the “accrued” benefit.

Stage 4
The accrued benefits are discounted to the valuation date, based on their expected
payment dates (based on the demographic assumptions) and the assumed rate of future
investment returns.

The method of apportioning benefits between past and future service is as follows:

Where the benefit is calculated by reference to a multiple, the past service component is
equal to the total benefit multiplied by the following ratio:

Accrued Multiple at Valuation Date
Multiple used in Benefit Calculation

Where the benefit is calculated by reference to one or more account balances (eg leaving
service benefits in the SFCSS), the past service component of that benefit is equal to the
relevant account balance at the valuation date with interest to the expected future date of
benefit payment.

Appendix B – continued
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In all cases, allowance is made for future salary growth and increases in vesting to the
assumed date of exit.

The accrued benefits liability has not been subjected to a minimum of vested benefits.

Surcharge is deducted at an aggregate level.

The unfunded component of each benefit in the CON scheme is calculated as the employer share
of the Basic Benefit (ie the benefit which would be paid had the member always contributed at the
rate of 5% of salary).  The funded component is calculated as the balance of the benefit.  In
respect of Compulsory Preserved members, the additional value of any anti-detriment option
available is allocated to the funded component.

Appendix B – continued



10. Appendices   •   103RBF Annual Report 2015-16

Page 11
5 August 2016

Methodology for Vested Benefits

Contributory Scheme
The method for calculating Vested Benefits for each type of member is set out below.

Vested Benefit
Contributory member Their current accrued benefit factor multiplied by

their current final average salary.
Pensioners The present value of their pension and where

applicable their contingent spouses pension.
Compulsory Preserved member The face value of their Compulsory Preserved

account.

No additional allowance has been made in respect of the anti-detriment provisions relating to pre
1 July 1994 members.

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund
The method for calculating Vested Benefits for each type of Member is set out in the table below.

Vested Benefit
Pensioners The present value of their pension and where

applicable their contingent spouses pension.

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund
As all Members have completed at least eight years’ service as at 30 June 2016, the Vested
Benefit is equal to the retirement benefit.

Appendix B – continued
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Appendix C: Summary of valuation assumptions
Contributory Scheme

In order to value the liabilities of the RBF Contributory Scheme, we must make a number of
assumptions being:

· financial;
· demographic; and
· expense assumptions

By using long-term assumptions, the basis is expected to remain relatively stable over a long
period of time.

The assumptions are reviewed triennially and were last updated as part of the most recent
actuarial investigation as at 30 June 2013.

These assumptions were used to calculate the Accrued Benefits and the Vested Benefits at 30
June 2016.

Assumption % per annum
Discount rate 7.5
Salary inflation (inclusive of promotional increases)

- first two years from 30 June 2016 3.5
- long term 4.5

Rate of increase in AWOTE 4.5
Rate of pension increases (CPI) 2.5

Appendix B – continued
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Demographic Assumptions
These are the rates which members are assumed to resign, retire, die or become disabled and
which pensioners are assumed to die.  The main demographic assumptions used for valuing the
Contributory Schemes liabilities are shown in the table below.

Contributory members Assumption
Rates of Retirement 55:       15%

56-59:  10%
60:        20%
61-62:  15%
63:        20%
64-69:  30%
70:      100%

Rates of Death Male: 30% of ALT 2005-07
Female: 50% of ALT 2005-07

Rates of Invalidity See table below.
Rates of Resignation See table below.
Rates of Redundancy Nil

Pensioners Assumption
Rates of death Retirees: See table below.

Spouses: Australian Life Tables 2005-07.
Invalids: See table below.

Rates of improvement in
pensioner mortality

See table below.

Appendix B – continued
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Other Assumptions
The other assumptions used for valuing the RBF Contributory Scheme liabilities are shown in the
table below.

Feature Assumption
Preservation age 55
Interim spouse pension on death 85% of Contributory members are married at the time of

their death and their widow/widowers will receive 3 months
pension payments at 75% of salary

Contributory members’ anti-detriment
retirement pension option

75% of eligible Contributory members are assumed to take
the anti-detriment pension option on retirement

Compulsory Preserved benefits anti-
detriment retirement pension option

For those members who have given notice of their intention
to preserve their complete entitlement, we assume 75% will
take the anti-detriment pension on retirement

Pensioners:
Age difference of spouse

Males are 3 years older than their spouse

Pensioners:
Marital status

85% of pensioners with a reversionary pension are married
at the valuation date (consistent with the assumption made
for current contributors)

Employer Share: 80.5% of basic benefits for all new benefits paid from 1 July
2015

Appendix B – continued
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Sample demographic rates for Contributory Scheme members

Rates of mortality, invalidity and resignation are expressed as the number of members leaving per
1,000 members at each age.

Age Resignation Death Invalidity
Male Female

20 46 0.22 0.14 0.30
25 56 0.25 0.15 0.44
30 42 0.29 0.19 0.65
35 32 0.34 0.27 0.90
40 22 0.44 0.40 1.30
45 17 0.61 0.62 1.95
50 13 0.91 0.94 3.90
55 - 1.36 1.36 5.00
60 - 2.16 2.18             -
65 - 3.60 3.40 -

Sample demographic rates for pensioners
The table below sets out the number of pensioners per 1,000 assumed to die during each year at
selected ages, along with the assumed rates of improvement.

Age
Retiree Invalid Spouse Improvement per annum

Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female
55 1.8 1.7 5.4 3.3 4.5 2.7 3.21% 2.45%
60 3.0 2.4 8.7 5.2 7.2 4.4 3.34% 2.52%
65 4.2 2.9 14.4 8.1 12.0 6.8 3.29% 2.52%
70 9.0 5.5 23.0 13.4 19.2 11.2 3.08% 2.45%
75 14.6 11.6 39.7 23.8 33.1 19.8 2.73% 2.30%
80 38.6 27.1 69.1 43.9 57.6 36.6 2.21% 2.07%
85 64.5 55.9 118.9 85.1 99.1 70.9 1.61% 1.62%
90 156.0 89.9 195.4 157.1 162.9 130.9 1.07% 1.03%
95 237.7 229.2 277.3 250.7 231.1 209.0 0.78% 0.67%

100 392.9 283.6 338.5 339.4 282.1 282.8 0.51% 0.47%
105 469.1 335.0 384.8 404.3 320.7 336.9 0.24% 0.26%
110 1000.0 1000.0 1000.0 1000.0 1000.0 1000.0 0.00% 0.06%

Appendix B – continued
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Parliamentary Superannuation Fund
Financial assumptions

The assumptions used to value the PSF were last updated as part of the 2013 actuarial
investigation. The financial assumptions are shown in the table below.

Assumption % per annum
Discount rate 8.0
Rate of pension increases (in line with CPI) 2.5

Demographic assumptions
These are the rates which Members are assumed to resign, retire, die or become disabled and
which pensioners are assumed to die.

Detailed tables of these assumptions are attached at the end of this Appendix.

A brief summary of the demographic assumptions is set out in the table below:

Pensioners Assumption
Rates of death Retirees: See table below.

Spouses: Australian Life Tables 2005-07.

Rates of improvement in
pensioner mortality

Improvement factors from ALT 2005-07, based on the last 25 years
experience

Some of the benefits under the plan are optional, for example commutation of the pension to a
lump sum, or are only payable if the Member is married, for example the spouse’s pension.  We
therefore have to make additional assumptions in order to value these benefits.  A brief summary
of these additional assumptions are set out in the table below.

Feature Assumption
Pensioners:
Age difference of spouse

Assume males are 3 years older than their spouse

Pensioners:
Marital status

Assume that pensioners who are currently married will
still be married at death

Appendix B – continued
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The table below sets out the number of pensioners per 1,000 assumed to die during each year at
selected ages, along with the assumed rates of improvement.

Age
Retiree Spouse Improvement per annum

Male Female Male Female Male Female
55 1.8 1.7 4.5 2.7 3.21% 2.45%
60 3.0 2.4 7.2 4.4 3.34% 2.52%
65 4.2 2.9 12.0 6.8 3.29% 2.52%
70 9.0 5.5 19.2 11.2 3.08% 2.45%
75 14.6 11.6 33.1 19.8 2.73% 2.30%
80 38.6 27.1 57.6 36.6 2.21% 2.07%
85 64.5 55.9 99.1 70.9 1.61% 1.62%
90 156.0 89.9 162.9 130.9 1.07% 1.03%
95 237.7 229.2 231.1 209.0 0.78% 0.67%

100 392.9 283.6 282.1 282.8 0.51% 0.47%
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Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund

The assumptions used to value the PRBF were last updated as part of the 2013 actuarial
investigation.

Financial Assumptions

The financial assumptions are shown in the table below.

Assumption % per annum
Discount rate 7.0
Salary inflation (inclusive of promotional increases)
- first two years from 30 June 2016 3.5
- long term 4.0

Demographic assumptions
These are the rates which Members are assumed to resign, retire, die or become disabled.

A brief summary of the demographic assumptions is set out in the table below.

Assumption
Rates of retirement Assume 100% retire at age 70
Rates of death See table below.
Rates of retirement due to ill health See table below.
Rates of re-election It is assumed that 35% of all Members will not be re-elected

at each election and that elections are held every 4 years for
the House of Assembly and every 6 years for the Legislative
Council

Sample tables of rates
Rates of mortality and invalidity are expressed as the number of Members leaving as a result of
these causes per 1,000 members at each age.

Age Death Invalidity
Male Female

55 182 136 500
60 288 218 500
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State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme
Financial assumptions

The assumptions used to value the SFCSS were last updated as part of the 2015 actuarial
investigation. The financial assumptions are shown in the table below.

Assumption % per annum
Discount rate 6.0
Salary inflation
- first four years from 30 June 2015
- long term

3.0
4.0

Demographic assumptions

A brief summary of the demographic assumptions is set out in the table below.

Contributory Members Assumption
Rates of Retirement 20% pa from age 55 - assume 100% retire at age 65
Rates of Death, Resignation and
Disablement

Nil
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Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme
Financial assumptions

The assumptions used to value the TASSS were last updated as part of the 2015 actuarial
investigation. The financial assumptions are shown in the table below.

Assumption % per annum
Discount rate 6.0
Salary inflation
- first year
- second year
- third year
- long term

4.5
4.6
5.0
4.0

Demographic assumptions

A brief summary of the demographic assumptions is set out in the table below.

Contributory Members Assumption
Rates of Retirement 10% pa from age 55 - assume 100% retire at age 65
Rates of Death and Disablement Nil
Rates of Resignation See table below.

Sample demographic rates for TASSS members

Rates of resignation are expressed as the number of members leaving per 1,000 members at
each age.

Age Resignation
20 46
25 56
30 42
35 32
40 22
45 17
50 13
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Individual agency balance sheet results as at 30 June 2016
These figures have been prepared for the individual agencies in setting their accounting provision for 
superannuation liabilities under the RBF in accordance with AASB119: Employee Benefits as at 30 June 2016.

Total defined  
benefit obligation

$’000

Contributory Scheme 
assets
$’000

Deficit/ 
(Surplus)

$’000

Aurora Retail 3,149 351 2,798

Forestry Tasmania 190,344 32,056 158,288

Housing Tasmania 11,961 – 11,961

Hydro-Electric Corporation 441,233 66,504 374,729

Metro Tasmania Pty Ltd 31,598 5,028 26,570

Motor Accidents Insurance Board 7,407 834 6,573

Port Arthur Historic Site Management Authority 8,717 1,060 7,657

Public Trustee 16,670 2,446 14,224

Retirement Benefits Fund Board 27,386 4,161 23,225

State Fire Service 32,750 25,364 7,386

TasNetworks 227,325 38,955 188,370

Tasmania Ambulance Service 55,857 50,749 5,108

TasWater 11,931 1,706 10,225

TT Line Company Pty Ltd 9,786 1,379 8,407

University of Tasmania 9,464 1,584 7,880

Tasmanian Racing Board 3,052 315 2,737

Total5 1,088,630 232,492 856,136

5 Small differences in totals may arise due to rounding.

This appendix has been prepared to comply with the Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005 Section 19 (c).
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Funds under management 

Funds under management  
per asset class

Investment managers as at 30 June 2016
30 June 2016 

($,000)
30 June 2015 

($,000)

Australian shares 
Balanced Equity Management Pty Ltd 
Concise Asset Management Ltd  
Invesco Australia Ltd 
Schroder Investment Management Australia Ltd 
Tribeca Investment Partners Pty Ltd

1,010,375 1,000,967

International shares 
Baillie Gifford Overseas Ltd 
Harding Loevner LP 
Independent Franchise Partners LLP 
Industry Funds Management Pty Ltd 
Mesirow Financial Holdings Inc 
Pzena Investment Management LLC 
Schroder Investment Management Ltd 
Walter Scott & Partners Ltd

1,136,939 1,146,158

Diversified fixed interest 
Brandywine Global Investment Management  
PIMCO Australia Ltd 
RBF Commercial Mortgages  
Members Equity Bank 

601,490 569,929

Property 
AMP Capital Investors Ltd 
Goodman Funds Management Limited 
Lend Lease Investment Management Ltd 
RBF Direct Property  
SG Hiscock & Co

598,292 528,743

Infrastructure 
AMP Capital Investors Ltd 
Hastings Fund Management Ltd 
Magellan Asset Management Limited 
Macquarie Specialized Asset Management Ltd

587,196 520,355

Absolute return 
BlackRock Institutional Trust Company, N.A. 
GMO Australia Ltd 
GAM International Management Ltd 
Mesirow Financial Holdings Inc

272,009 203,548

Alternative debt 
Babson Capital Management LLC 
Bentham Asset Management Pty Ltd 
Hastings Fund Management Ltd 
Mesirow Financial Holdings Inc 
Shenkman Capital Management Inc

456,125 427,999

Cash 
Henderson Global Investors (Australia) Funds Management Limited 
RBF Direct Cash 
Westpac Banking Corporation (Operational A/c)

787,920 889,962

Socially responsible investments 
AMP Capital Investors Ltd

25,236 25,643

TOTAL 5,475,582 5,313,304
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Sustainability in asset management
The National Australian Built Environment Rating System (NABERS) is a national rating system that measures 
the environmental performance of Australian buildings, tenancies and homes. RBF is working towards 
achieving best practice NABERS energy rating of 4.5+ Energy Stars for all the office buildings we directly 
own. Works over recent years have included the complete upgrade of lifts, lighting, heating and cooling. 

Office building Improvements in 2015-16 NABERS rating

21 Kirksway Place, Hobart  • upgrade of car park and common area lighting to reduce energy usage  
out of hours.

Expected rating at next 
assessment is 4.0 to 4.5  
Energy Stars.

66-80 Collins Street, Hobart  
(Telstra Building)

 • upgrade of access control system and installation of a new CCTV 
system to improve security.

 • upgrade of car park and common area lighting to reduce energy usage  
out of hours.

4.5 Energy Star rating received 
6 September 2015.

144 Macquarie Street, Hobart  • building refurbishment completed in December 2015.

 • energy consumption reduced by around 60% following installation of 
new air-conditioning.

Expected rating at next 
assessment is 4.0 to 4.5  
Energy Stars.

Stony Rise Government 
Centre, Rundle Rd, Devonport

 • no upgrades necessary. 

 • lease agreement provides for the long term tenant to be responsible  
for maintenance and systems. 

 • RBF does not incur electricity costs in relation to this building.

 • sale of building agreed in late 2015-16 and settlement occurred in  
July 2016.

No rating sought.
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Financial management 

How RBF allocates costs
RBF consolidates the funds from the six schemes 
that it manages for the purposes of investment. The 
benefit of consolidation is that it provides significant 
administrative and investment cost efficiencies due 
to economies of scale. 

RBF uses an Activity Based Costing methodology 
to attribute operating costs between the RBF 
Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme and the defined 
benefits schemes. Additionally, each scheme 
receives the benefit of its own concessional taxation 
treatment. The RBF defined benefits schemes 
receive the benefit of having untaxed contributions 
and pre July 1988 funding credits. Each scheme 
receives its allocated investment taxation benefits 
including imputation credits and capital losses.

The RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme is a 
self-funded scheme with costs recouped by fees 
charged to members.

Operating costs of two defined benefits schemes, 
the Contributory Scheme and the Parliamentary 
Retirement Benefits Fund, are effectively borne by 
the Tasmanian Government. This is because costs 
impact the level of funding required by the Tasmanian 
Government to meet benefits payable to defined 
benefit scheme members. The Contributory Scheme 
is the largest defined benefits scheme and the 
primary generator of defined benefit scheme costs. 

The operating costs of the State Fire Commission 
Superannuation Scheme and the Tasmanian 
Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme are 
borne by the membership.

The defined benefits schemes are all closed 
schemes and membership is decreasing. As a 
result, the costs percentage attributable to the 
defined benefits schemes is decreasing over time.

Change in attribution of operating costs 

Financial year ending 30 June
RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme  

(% of total costs)
Defined benefits schemes 

(% of total costs)

2010 38 62

2011 38 62

2012 38 62

2013 44.5 55.5

2014 44.5 55.5

2015 49.81 50.19

2016 51.57 48.43

Budgeting
The RBF Board approves the following budgets:

•• Operating and fund expenses budget 
This represents the resources allocated to 
undertake the business activities of RBF. The 
RBF Leadership Group places a high priority on 
managing within the RBF Board approved budget. 

•• Fund budget 
This is made up of two major components:

•• membership flows which includes expected 
contributions and benefit payments; and 

•• investment assets which includes expected  
investment returns. 

Unclaimed superannuation benefits
RBF is required by Tasmanian legislation to transfer 
unclaimed superannuation benefits to Tasmanian 
State Treasury. The amount transferred in 2015-16 
was $279,104. 

Reserves
Reserves are established and maintained to protect 
the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme against 
the financial effects of possible future adverse 
risk events, to fund initiatives to ensure that the 
RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme is able 
to continually develop in line with the needs of 
members and for future expenditure where there are 
no sources of future external funding.
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•• Operating risk reserve 

This is designed to cover the risk of loss resulting 
from inadequate or failed internal processes, 
people and systems or from external events 
that are relevant to the operations of the RBF 
Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme. RBF’s 
minimum and target level for this reserve is 0.25% 
of scheme funds under management measured 
at the end of the financial year. These reserves are 
managed in accordance with the reserves section 
of the RBF Governance Policy and are separately 
identifiable from member accounts, provisions 
and the strategic development reserve. 

•• Strategic development reserve

This is designed to fund initiatives to ensure the 
RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme is able 
to continually develop in line with the needs 
of members. These reserves are managed in 
accordance with the RBF Governance Policy  
and are separately identifiable from member 
accounts, provisions and the operating risk reserve. 
There is no minimum or target level requirement  
for this reserve.

Details of movements in the reserves are contained 
in the table below.

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Opening balance 13,046 12,909 23,120

Add amounts transferred to operating statement from general  
operating provision 

– – 5,500

Less amounts incurred from capital initiatives from operating statement – (104) (1,538)

Less amounts transferred back to RBF Tasmanian Accumulation  
Scheme members

– – (15,000)

Add interest income incurred on reserve balance 261 313 831

Less amounts incurred from member adjustments from  
operating statement

(10) (72) (4)

Closing balance 13,297 13,046 12,909

Payments to regulators
Payments were made to the Australian Securities and Investments Commission as fees for lodgement of the 
financial statements and Authorised Representatives of RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd.
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Administration services – Mercer Outsourcing 
(Australia) Pty Ltd
Mercer continues to be RBF’s strategic partner 
in the provision of outsourced superannuation 
administration services. Mercer was appointed in 
mid-2011 initially for a five year term and this has 
been extended in line with RBF’s requirements to  
31 March 2016. Mercer provides administration 
services to RBF members and employer agencies 
including benefit, contribution and pension 
administration as well as member and employer 
communication through the RBF Enquiry Line,  
the RBF website and publications. 

Asset consultant – JANA Investment  
Advisors Pty Ltd
JANA assists RBF to formulate investment strategies 
and advises on the optimal asset allocations in 
accordance with the RBF Board’s return and risk 
objectives. JANA provides quarterly performance 
reports and attends Board meetings on a quarterly 
basis. RBF’s internal Investment Management 
Division works with JANA to bring recommendations 
to the RBF Board on asset allocation, asset class 
structure, the selection of investment managers, 
significant direct investments, liquidity stress testing 
and other matters as required. The outcomes are 
reflected in RBF’s Consolidated Investment Strategy. 

Taxation services – KPMG
KMPG an Australian partnership and a member firm 
of the KPMG network of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Co-operative.

KPMG is the registered tax agent for RBF and 
provides advice and expertise in a variety of tax 
related areas. KPMG is a key point of contact for 
RBF in maintaining industry and market taxation 
knowledge and to provide expertise in liaising with 
the Australian Taxation Office. 

Taxation consultant – CA King & Associates
CA King & Associates provides RBF with specialised 
tax consulting services. Cath King, the principal of 
CA King & Associates, is a Chartered Accountant 
with over 25 years of experience and specialises  
in the Australian superannuation tax industry.  
This relationship has been effective in building a 
robust tax governance and operational framework.

Actuary – Mercer Consulting (Australia) Pty Ltd
The RBF actuary is Dr David Knox, a Senior Partner 
at Mercer and Senior Actuary for Australia. RBF 
liaises regularly with the actuary and receives 
actuarial advice on a number of matters, including 
core actuarial requirements and policy. 

Custodian – JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. 
(Sydney branch) 
JP Morgan provides custody services to RBF.  
JP Morgan is the legal owner of most assets of  
RBF and provides safekeeping over these assets. 
JP Morgan also provides ancillary services 
including accounting, unit pricing and investment 
manager compliance. 

Internal audit – KPMG
RBF has fully outsourced its internal audit function 
since 2011-12. Internal audit is a material business 
activity for the purposes of the Australian Prudential 
Regulatory Authority’s Superannuation Prudential 
Standards. KPMG has been RBF’s fully outsourced 
partner since 2011-12. In May 2016, the RBF Board 
resolved to extend KPMG’s appointment until  
31 March 2017. KPMG attends all meetings of the 
Risk and Audit Committee and works closely with 
RBF’s Risk, Compliance and Commercial Services 
Unit in the provision of its services.
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External audit – Tasmanian Auditor-General
Section 18 of the Audit Act 2008, requires the 
Auditor-General to audit the financial statements 
for all Tasmanian state entities. The Tasmanian 
Audit Office has contracted Wise Lord & Ferguson 
to undertake the audit of the financial statements 
of the RBF Board and RBF Financial Planning. 
In consultation with RBF, the Tasmanian Audit 
Office‘s contractor prepares a client strategy for 
each year’s audit and ensures audit timeframes 
are met, recommendations are followed-up and an 
unqualified audit report is achieved. The Auditor-
General and his contractor meet with the RBF 
Board prior to the RBF Board approving the annual 
financial statements and the Auditor-General issuing 
his audit report. 

Member insurance RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme – The Colonial Mutual 
Life Assurance Society Limited trading as 
CommInsure
CommInsure is the external underwriter of the RBF 
Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Life and Income 
Protection Policies. CommInsure is a part of the 
Commonwealth Bank Group. 

Insurance broking services – Marsh Pty Ltd
Marsh provides insurance broking services to RBF 
for a range of corporate insurance needs including 
property, directors’ and officers’ liability, public liability, 
machinery, contracts, travel and personal accident 
cover. Marsh is a wholly owned subsidiary of Marsh & 
McLennan Companies, Inc 

Banking services – Westpac Banking Corporation
Westpac Banking Corporation provides transactional 
and institutional banking services to RBF. Westpac’s 
relationship with RBF has been in place since 1998. 

External investment managers
A list of investment managers used by RBF is on 
page 114.
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RBF Aspire Program
RBF’s Aspire Program has now been running successfully for two years and supports:

•• RBF members’ professional development and career opportunities;

•• building the knowledge and skills of Tasmanian Government employees; and

•• the retention of members within RBF.

The program has two sections, one for RBF members (Member scholarships) and one for unions, agencies 
and stakeholders (Organisational sponsorships). Scholarships and sponsorships are judged against defined 
criteria by a panel, and awarded on merit. 

Sponsorship provided through the RBF Aspire Program 2015-16

Amount Provided to Benefits 

$15,000 Department of Education 
This sponsorship supported the Department of Education to 
recognise excellence in their workforce.

$15,000
Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation (Tasmanian 

branch)

This sponsorship supported the Australian Nursing and 
Midwifery Federation to award two nursing students with  
the RBF Diploma of Nursing Student Scholarship.

$14,569 Tasmanian Infection Prevention and Control Unit
This sponsorship enabled 17 healthcare professionals, who  
are also RBF members, to attend the Australasian College  
for Infection Prevention Control Conference. 

$50,000 RBF members
This sponsorship supported 18 individual RBF members to 
undertake professional development to further their careers. 

In addition there was some sponsorship outside of the RBF Aspire Program, primarily aimed at providing 
avenues for brand recognition and community support through union and community networks.

Sponsorship outside of the RBF Aspire Program 2015-16

Amount Provided to Benefits

$750 Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation 

ANMF wall planner – an annual planner that is displayed in all  
the Nursing Management Units in Department of Health and  
Human Services.

Good brand recognition for RBF.

$500 Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation

Graduate Guide sponsorship – a guide given to all nursing and 
midwife graduates.

Good brand recognition for RBF.

$1165 Tasmanian Health Service

15 minute speaking spot at the new staff inductions for 
Tasmanian Health Service – provided an opportunity for RBF 
Business Relationship Officers to speak directly to potential  
new RBF members.

N/A
Hobart Volunteer Committee National Breast Cancer 

Foundation

RBF contributed 500 give-away bags from our merchandising 
store which were used by the Foundation at the MMIB Think 
Pink Cup.

Good brand recognition for RBF.

$500 Mothers’ Day Classic 2016

Sponsor of the ’largest family and friends team’ at the Hobart 
Mothers’ Day Classic.

Contribution to fund raising for Mothers’ Day Classic and 
support for Women in Super which runs the event.

Good brand recognition for RBF.

$1,675 Tasmanian Schools Administrators’ Association

Silver sponsorship package at Tasmanian Schools 
Administrators’ Association 2016 Conference. 

Good brand recognition for RBF.
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Applaud Award recipients

Our values

RBF expects all staff to represent the RBF values in their work and we acknowledge those who have been 
nominated by their peers as living the RBF values to a particularly high degree through our Applaud Program. 

The RBF Leadership Group selects one nominee as the recipient of the monthly Applaud Award. An annual 
President’s Award is selected by the RBF President from the monthly Applaud Award recipients. 

Monthly recipients
Kate Williams June 2016 For organising the 2016 Public Sector Superannuation Funds Conference.

Laura Gilkes May 2016 For ensuring the objectives of the Successor Fund Transfer element of the Public Sector 
Superannuation Reforms Program is fulfilled to a very high standard.

Candice Convey April 2016 For managing the implementation and judging packs for RBF’s Aspire Program.

Information  
and Technology  
Services Team

March 2016 For their contribution in identifying and resolving a long standing agency frustration.

Brian Holding February 2016 For the development and implementation of RBF’s Risk Management Framework and receiving an 
‘optimal’ rating following an internal audit of the Framework.

Leigh Ford January 2016 For his continued support and taking responsibility for managing the Mortgage Portfolio during a 
time of extended leave of the Manager.

Damien Hill and  
Julia Shea

December 2015 For bringing the mini-site concept for the RBF Member Report to fruition, at minimal costs.

Danny Todorovic November 2015 For his willingness to help everyone out and his friendly attitude.

Matthew Combey October 2015 For managing an increased workload with little or no disruption to the clients of RBF Financial Planning.

Mark Ballard September 2015 For his efforts in gaining a 4.5 star NABERS rating for the Telstra building.

Carol Rawnsley  
AND
Super Heroes Team

August 2015 For her friendly, professional and supportive manner even when under great pressure.
AND
To the organisers and speakers of the Super Heroes event, for a professional and well organised event.

Rita Mawson July 2015 For being the main Para Planning resource for the Financial Planning team, taking on additional 
tasks while maintaining a high level of support.

WE EXPECT THE BEST 
AND GIVE THE BEST

Employee 
Value 

Proposition

Our values

Our strategic 
intent: 

uninterrupted 
investment,
product and

service 
excellence
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Annual winners

Recipient of the 2015-16 President’s Award – Brian Holding, Senior Risk Advisor
Brian produced a high quality program of work that was successfully implemented  
and presented to the whole organisation during 2015-16. Through Brian’s work, 
RBF has been set up to be in the best position to ensure obligations are met and 
the program of work can continue using the framework he developed. RBF’s Risk 
Management Framework was subject to an internal audit during 2015-16 and received 
RBF’s first ‘optimal’ rating in all aspects of the report.

Recipient of the 2015-16 President’s High Commendation Award –  
Matthew Combey, Financial Planner
Matthew demonstrated exceptional dedication in upholding the reputation of  
RBF Financial Planning. Matthew is known for his dedication to his clients, providing 
them with continued service excellence whilst having inherited new clients from  
an employee who had left.

Recipients of the 2015-16 Award  
for the most nominations received
Awarded to Candice Convey, Carol 
Rawnsley, Damien Hill and Michael 
Bonsey who each received four 
individual nominations during 2015-16.
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Appendix J
Insurance claims paid

RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme
Claims paid 2015-16 2014-15 2013-14

Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount

Income Protection 133 $3,564,075 118 $3,254,244 121 $2,937,978

Death 26 $2,785,884 17 $1,182,312 11 $973,023

Total and Permanent 
Disablement

44 $4,033,197 28 $2,016,603 26 $1,631,969

The figures in this table represent all claims paid under the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme including both benefits underwritten by CommInsure from 
November 2012 and those paid form RBF’s self-insurance death and disability provision. They are not intended to correlate with the figures contained within 
Note 8(b) on page 65. The figures within Note 8(b) relate to benefits paid from RBF’s self-insurance death and disability provision only.

Contributory Scheme
Claims paid 2015-16 2014-15 2013-14

Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount

Income Protection 58 $2,030,006 52 $1,722,887 61 $1,874,156

Death 3 $351,639 10 $789,644 3 $134,271

Total and Permanent 
Disablement

11 $1,231,429 11 $1,380,532 3 $228,361

One Income Protection claim valued at $92,356 and one Total and Permanent Disablement claim valued at $20,902 was paid under the Tasmanian 
Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme during 2015-16.

One Total and Permanent Disablement claim valued at $173,917 was paid under the State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme during 2015-16.  
No claims were paid under the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Scheme during 2015-16.
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Appendix K
Enterprise Wide Risk Register
RBF’s enterprise wide risk register is a ‘living’ document and is reviewed regularly. The table represents the 
contents and residual risk status of the register as at 30 June 2016. 

Enterprise wide risks and residual risk status as at 30 June 2016 Residual risk status

M
em

b
er

s

Current level of member satisfaction with RBF products and services is not maintained leading to loss of members 
and loss of funds under management.

Within tolerance.

Investment returns do not meet stakeholders’ expectations leading to dissatisfaction and potential loss of funds 
under management.

Stakeholders perceive RBF processes and procedures as unreasonable and inefficient compared to other 
superannuation providers leading to dissatisfaction.

The Successor Fund Transfer Project identifies that it is not in the best interests of the membership, leading  
to transition process not proceeding (strategy failure) and no suitable alternative proposed.

F
in

an
ci

al

Ineffective investment strategy, governance and/or management leading to poor investment performance relative to peers.

Inadequate management of liquidity leading to inability to meet emerging cash flow needs (payment of pensions, 
withdrawals, roll-outs etc).

Ineffective management of group insurance arrangements, leading to inappropriate payment to beneficiaries  
and/or increased premiums for insured arrangements.

P
eo

p
le

RBF is unable to recruit and retain appropriately skilled staff, leading to restricted capacity to achieve RBF objectives.

Above tolerance, but 
accepted by the Board, 
noting limited ability to 

control further.6

Safe working environment not provided for staff and visitors, leading to reduced physical and emotional wellbeing 
(and potential financial loss).

Above tolerance, but 
accepted by the Board, 
noting limited ability to 

control further.7

The Public Sector Superannuation Reform does not provide sufficient clarity leading to ongoing uncertainty, 
increased staff turnover, reduced morale and operational inefficiencies.

Above tolerance, but 
accepted by the Board, 
noting limited ability to 

control further.8

G
o

ve
rn

an
ce

Failure to apply appropriate standards of care, skill, diligence and good governance leading to ineffective and  
or inappropriate decision making.

Within tolerance.

Non-compliance with the legislative and regulatory regime, leading to material breach of compliance obligations 
(and increased regulatory oversight).

Underlying assumptions of strategic plan are erroneous; resulting in strategies developed not having the  
desired effect.

Fraud, theft, corruption, money laundering or terrorism financing not prevented or detected, leading to significant 
financial loss, breach of legislation and reputational damage.

Transitional arrangements associated with the implementation of the Public Sector Superannuation Reform 
Program are not understood or implemented appropriately, leading to inappropriate/failed implementation.

O
p

er
at

io
n

al

Unauthorised access and/or damage to RBF’s IT network, computers, applications and data, leading to  
reputational damage, operational inefficiencies, potential legislative and regulatory breaches and adverse  
impacts on the membership.

Adequate level of corporate insurance cover not maintained (including investment property coverage), leading to 
financial loss.

A significant business interruption leads to an inability to deliver appropriate services to members.

RBF is unable to optimise its outsourced service arrangements, leading to higher costs and potential  
operational inefficiencies.

Ineffective management of outsourced contracts leading to inability to deliver efficient and effective services to members.

Outsourced service provider failure (service disruption) leading to significant impact on service delivery to  
RBF membership.

Significant error in the valuations or application of valuations applied to member accounts (RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme only) leading to material compensation, significant reputational damage and significant 
regulatory breach.

6  On 29 July 2015, the RBF Board approved an increase in the residual risk rating from Low to Medium, noting that this was in excess of its stated tolerance 
of Low. Treatment actions relating to retention were considered and endorsed by the Administration and Remuneration Committee in September 2015. 

7  On 29 April 2015, the RBF Board accepted a residual risk rating of Medium, noting that this was in excess of its stated tolerance of Low. No further 
treatment actions required.  

8  On 5 March 2014, the RBF Board accepted a residual risk rating of High noting that it was in excess of its stated tolerance of Medium and RBF’s limited 
ability to influence. No further treatment actions required.
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Appendix L
Scheme details and member statistics 
RBF is the Tasmanian public sector superannuation 
fund for Tasmanian public sector employees and 
their spouses. RBF administers five defined benefit 
schemes and one accumulation scheme. 

RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 
The RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme is 
invested with the best interests of members in mind. 

What happens to interest earnings? All returns 
less the costs of managing the investments are 
returned to members. 

The RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme has the 
following sub-accounts:

•• RBF Investment Account: for employer 
Superannuation Guarantee contributions and all 
types of member contributions including personal 
contributions, salary sacrifice, rollovers, additional 
employer contributions and Government super 
co-contributions; 

•• RBF Transition to Retirement Account Based 
Pension: a product designed for members who  
have reached preservation age but are not fully 
retired from the workforce and wish to supplement  
their pre-retirement income through an account 
based pension whilst continuing to contribute 
superannuation contributions;

•• RBF Account Based Pension: a post retirement 
product that provides an income stream from 
accumulated superannuation savings; and

•• RBF Term Allocated Pension: an account for 
superannuants who have elected to invest in a  
RBF Term Allocated Pension. New accounts 
ceased being created after 20 September 2007.

Defined benefits schemes:
RBF also has five defined benefit schemes. Defined 
benefit means that the benefit is determined by  
a formula based on salary, length of service and 
contribution level.

What happens to interest earnings? The net 
investment earnings achieved by RBF for the defined 
schemes reduces the money that the Tasmanian 
Government needs to pay to fund its share of 
benefits to members. As at 30 June 2016, RBF  
was meeting its long term investment objectives 
agreed with the Department of Treasury and 
Finance. This benefits all Tasmanians.

Contributory Scheme 
For permanent employees and certain temporary  
or contract employees who started employment  
in the Tasmanian public sector before 15 May 1999.  
The Contributory Scheme was closed to new 
members from 15 May 1999.

The Contributory Scheme has a related Contributory 
Scheme CPA which records unfunded benefits. The 
Contributory Scheme Life Pension also is provided 
under the Contributory Scheme regulations. 

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 
For full-time permanent uniformed employees who 
started employment in the Tasmania Fire Service 
before 1 July 2005. The State Fire Commission 
Superannuation Scheme was incorporated into  
RBF as a sub-fund from 1 May 2006.

Tasmanian Ambulance Service  
Superannuation Scheme 
For permanent employees who started employment 
with the Tasmanian Ambulance Service before  
30 June 2006. The Tasmanian Ambulance Service 
Superannuation Scheme was incorporated into  
RBF as a sub-fund from 30 June 2006.

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 
For Members of Parliament first elected to Parliament 
before 15 November 1985. The Parliamentary 
Superannuation Fund was incorporated into RBF  
as a sub-fund from 1 January 2003.

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 
For Members of Parliament first elected to 
Parliament after 14 November 1985 and before 
1 July 1999. The Parliamentary Retiring Benefits 
Fund was incorporated into RBF as a sub-fund 
from 1 January 2003.
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Appendix L – Continued 
Member statistics

Number of 
accounts at  

30 June 2015 Entrants Exits

Number of 
accounts at  

30 June 2016 Active accounts

RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme

54,373 2,515 5,726 51,162 26,164

Contributory Scheme 6,456 5 651 5,810 5,810

Contributory Scheme CPA 12,412 22 31 12,403 –

State Fire Commission 
Superannuation Scheme

96 – 5 91 91

Tasmanian Ambulance 
Service Superannuation 
Scheme

137 – 6 131 131

Parliamentary 
Superannuation Fund

– – – – –

Parliamentary Retiring 
Benefits Fund

4 – 1 3 3

RBF Life Pension and 
Contributory Scheme  
Life Pension

9,243 393 256 9,380

RBF Account  
Based Pension

2,315 464 216 2,563

RBF Term  
Allocated Pension

28 – 1 27
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Appendix M
Project status report 

Approval Name Description Target
Status as at  

30 June 2016

May 2013 – RBF Board 144 Macquarie Street 
Refurbishment Project

To refurbish the building at 144 Macquarie Street to 
increase the NABERS rating to 4.5 Energy Stars and 
maximize future tenancies.

December 2015 Completed

June 2015 – RBF 
Leadership Group

RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme 
Insurance Project

Phase 1 – to undertake a rerate of the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme Insurance Product.

Phase 2 – to align with SPS250 compliance 
requirements in relation to insurance data.

30 June 2016 Completed

July 2015 – 
announcement by the 
Tasmanian Treasurer

Public Sector 
Superannuation 
Reforms Program

To facilitate the transfer of RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme accounts to Tasplan.

To facilitate transfer of fiduciary responsibility for the 
RBF defined benefit schemes to the Superannuation 
Commission.

31 March 2017 In progress





Contacting RBF 
Contact RBF if you would like additional  
information or assistance.

RBF Enquiry Line:  1800 622 631 or  
+61 3 8687 1863 
(international)

Visit: www.rbf.com.au

Fax: (03) 9245 5827 or 
+61 3 9245 5827 
(international)

Write:  RBF, Reply Paid 446, 
Hobart TAS 7001

Office: Ground Floor,  
21 Kirksway Place,  
Hobart

Ground Floor, 
113-115 Cimitiere Street,  
Launceston
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